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          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome to the

          3  Committee, and we're here to have an oversight on

          4  New York City's idling laws and also to hear about

          5  four intros, which we're going to be talking about

          6  today to increase New York City's crackdown on

          7  idling violations.

          8                 As we all know asthma is epidemic in

          9  New York City. I was proud to participate this

         10  morning in Speaker Miller's Asthma Task Force, which

         11  is being launched today and there are many ways in

         12  which we're going to be taking on the issue of

         13  asthma in New York City, and what better way to take

         14  on this issue than to crack down on the most

         15  unnecessary form of pollution than I can imagine,

         16  you know, idling vehicles, be they trucks, buses,

         17  passenger vehicles, we certainly have to do

         18  everything that we can, not only to make vehicles

         19  cleaner, but also to restrict the time that they can

         20  put pollutants into the air when they're actually

         21  moving. It seems unnecessary, maybe simple to have

         22  vehicles idling, spewing pollution, and we want to

         23  do everything we can with these intros to see if we

         24  can combat pollution.

         25                 Many of you may know the current
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          2  landscape for idling laws. New York City has an

          3  idling law of no more than three minutes for

          4  passenger vehicles. That doesn't include vehicles

          5  that respond to, you know, fire and other kinds of

          6  police and so on, and buses, under the current

          7  landscape, can't idle at all, if they're at their

          8  terminals, if it's more than 40 degrees out. And

          9  commercial diesel vehicles, buses and trucks have to

         10  abide by a state law where they can't idle for more

         11  than five minutes. That's kind of a summary of the

         12  current landscape.

         13                 We're going to be talking about a

         14  couple of other intros that we'd like to, which we'd

         15  like to discuss today. Intro. 378 has to do with

         16  commercial vehicles, and this would state that these

         17  kinds of vehicles cannot idle for any duration,

         18  unless the engine is used to operate some kind of a

         19  refrigerator or some sort of lift or some sort of

         20  reason why the engine has to be on, and that would

         21  be a great thing to make sure that these commercial

         22  vehicles do not idle unnecessarily, and we would

         23  have a zero tolerance for idling for these kinds of

         24  vehicles under this Intro.

         25                 Intro. 560 makes a definition of an
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          2  emergency vehicle which we currently -- in the law

          3  we don't have an adequate definition of these kinds

          4  of vehicles, and we know that they are exempted but

          5  we have to do a better job of defining what these

          6  vehicles are, and also to limit the exemption to

          7  those vehicles that are either preparing to respond

          8  to some kind of emergency. So, we want to set some

          9  parameters on that. We believe it's, it's a little

         10  too broad. That's Intro. 560.

         11                 Intro. 587 would increase the

         12  penalties for violations, for anyone who would

         13  violate the idling laws, this would increase the

         14  penalty and require the City DOT to post signs as

         15  appropriate throughout the City in the bus depots

         16  and other areas so that people would have knowledge

         17  of the idling laws and what kind of penalties they

         18  would be subject to if they violated that.

         19                 Intro 606 would increase the number

         20  of New York City agencies that can respond to idling

         21  violations. Currently we have the NYPD and DOT and

         22  the City DEP who write summonses for this, and we

         23  would like to see more agencies get into the act.

         24  The Parks Department and the Department of

         25  Sanitation both have agents that could be put into
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          2  service to write violations for idling laws.

          3                 I just spent a lot of time in my

          4  opening statement, you know, talking about the

          5  perils of what is in vehicle exhaust. Everyone here

          6  knows what the problems of air pollution and how we

          7  have to be very vigorous in trying to stop it. We're

          8  gratified to have Jane Kenny with us of the EPA.

          9  We're very grateful that you're here with us and all

         10  the other people who come here to testify. DEP and

         11  representatives of the industry and transit workers,

         12  the MTA, and so without further ado, I'd like to

         13  call Jane Kenny from the EPA, and her associate Ray

         14  Werner, to take the stand.

         15                 We're very gratified that you're able

         16  to be here with us today. And we know that you have

         17  a very busy schedule and we know that you have a

         18  delegation from China, I think you indicated to me,

         19  coming here to see how we make our environment

         20  clean, and we're very happy that you could take a

         21  few moments to be with us. We understand you can't

         22  stay for a real long time and you're going to leave

         23  behind Ray who is going to answer some of our

         24  questions. We're very grateful that you could be

         25  with us today.
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          2                 So, as we do in this Committee, we

          3  put our witnesses under oath. Sorry about that. So,

          4  we have Donna DeCostanzo who will administer the

          5  oath.

          6                 I'd like to recognize that Council

          7  Member Koppell has joined us and all of the work of

          8  the staff that helped put this hearing together,

          9  Richard Colon, Donna DeCostanzo, and my own Chief of

         10  Staff Lenny Spieler, who contributed greatly in

         11  getting this all together, so I think him very much

         12  for that service.

         13                 So, without further ado, Donna,

         14  please do the honors.

         15                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         16  right hand.

         17                 In the testimony that you're about to

         18  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         19  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         20                 MS. KENNY: Yes.

         21                 MR. WERNER: Yes.

         22                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         23                 MS. KENNY: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         24  and members of the Committee and for the opportunity

         25  to share my very strong views on the importance of
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          2  controlling vehicles idling in New York City and

          3  other urban areas.

          4                 Joining me today is Ray Werner, he's

          5  Chief of our Air Programs Branch.

          6                 Over the past few years we have, as

          7  you pointed out, witnessed a dramatic increase in

          8  asthma and respiratory problems, especially among

          9  the young and the elderly in our cities. Several New

         10  York City neighborhoods have some of the highest

         11  asthma rates in the country. Emissions from idling

         12  cars, trucks and buses contribute significantly to

         13  the pollution that translates into health problems

         14  and deteriorating air quality.

         15                 Idling also increases fuel costs and

         16  maintenance costs associated with substantial wear

         17  to engines.

         18                 Studies indicate that annual vehicle

         19  maintenance due to idling can run over $300 per

         20  vehicle.

         21                 The public health, environmental and

         22  economic consequences of idling make it particularly

         23  important for government at all levels, federal,

         24  state and city to reduce vehicle idling and other

         25  sources of air pollution.
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          2                 Motor vehicles are the single

          3  greatest source of pollution that affects air

          4  quality. Each day millions of cars, trucks and buses

          5  on the roads emit pollutants, such as hydrocarbons,

          6  nitrogen oxides, or NOx carbon monoxide and

          7  particulate matter into the air. Idling increases

          8  those harmful emissions.

          9                 EPA has determined that vehicle

         10  exhaust can cause lung damage and respiratory

         11  problems and exacerbate asthma and existing

         12  allergies. Ozone or smog formed from a vehicle

         13  exhaust is a potent irritant and it causes lung

         14  damage and a variety of respiratory problems.

         15  Exhaust contains toxic hydrocarbons, some of which

         16  have the potential to cause cancer.

         17                 The carbon monoxide in exhaust

         18  reduces the flow of oxygen to the blood stream,

         19  which is especially harmful to people with heart

         20  disease, as well as infants and the elderly.

         21                 Diesel exhaust is particularly

         22  harmful. It contains more than 40 hazardous air

         23  pollutants, including fine particulate matter.

         24  Nationwide, fine particulates from diesel exhaust

         25  cause 15,000 premature deaths each year.
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          2                 The good news is that important steps

          3  have already been taken to decrease motor vehicle

          4  emissions. Due to EPA's regulatory efforts today,

          5  gasoline- and diesel-powered vehicles are

          6  dramatically cleaner.

          7                 Most recently the agency took steps

          8  to tighten the emission standards for diesel

          9  engines. Additional requirements are in place for

         10  vehicles produced after 2004 and even stricter

         11  standards will take effect for diesel engines

         12  produced after 2007.

         13                 Beginning that year EPA will require

         14  a 90 percent reduction in particulate matter and a

         15  95 percent reduction in NOx emissions below today's

         16  levels from newly-built on-road vehicles.

         17                 Earlier this year, EPA proposed a

         18  comprehensive set of limits on emissions from

         19  non-road vehicles and has made substantial progress

         20  addressing vehicle emissions through requirements

         21  for cleaner fuels.

         22                 The Federal Clean Air Act does not

         23  require anti-idling regulations. Recognizing the

         24  importance of controlling emissions from idling, EPA

         25  has gone beyond its regulatory role to address these
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          2  emissions.

          3                 The agency currently promotes a wide

          4  variety of voluntary programs to decrease vehicle

          5  emissions, including those created by idling. EPA's

          6  clean school bus USA program is especially relevant

          7  to New York City with its large school-aged

          8  population.

          9                 The program aims to decrease idling,

         10  retrofit buses with emission control devices and

         11  replace the oldest, most-polluting buses. Last July

         12  I signed a memorandum of understanding on behalf of

         13  the EPA administrator with the New York Association

         14  of Pupil Transportation that memorializes our mutual

         15  commitment to decrease emissions from diesel-fueled

         16  school buses throughout the State.

         17                 We are currently developing

         18  anti-idling educational materials for school

         19  districts and are creating programs and materials to

         20  make the school transportation community aware of

         21  the benefits of less bus idling.

         22                 Idling reduction is also a major

         23  component of SmartWay Transport, a voluntary

         24  partnership between EPA and various freight industry

         25  sectors that establishes incentives for fuel
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          2  efficiency improvement and reductions in greenhouse

          3  gas emissions.

          4                 Through the SmartWay Transfer

          5  Program, truck and locomotive operators are

          6  encouraged to provide incentives to minimize idling

          7  at truck stops, ports, borders, railyards, and other

          8  locations.

          9                 Trucks consume up to one gallon of

         10  diesel fuel for each hour at idle, using as much as

         11  2,400 gallons of fuel every year per truck. This

         12  totals 1.2 billion gallons of diesel fuel consumed

         13  every year from idling, costing 1.8 billion at 1.50

         14  per gallon of diesel, one dollar and fifty cents.

         15                 On average, each idling truck

         16  produces about 21 tons of carbon dioxide and

         17   .3-10ths tons of NOx annually, totalling over

         18  11,150,000 tons, respectively.

         19                 One SmartWay Transport project, truck

         20  stop electrification, is being successfully

         21  demonstrated at the Hunts Point Market in the Bronx.

         22                 Long-haul trucks had little choice

         23  but to idle in long lines at the market. Now they

         24  can turn off their engines and hook up to an on-site

         25  electrical power to heat or air condition their cabs
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          2  and power engine block heaters and trailer

          3  refrigeration units. This technology has been

          4  installed at other locations in New York State and

          5  throughout the country.

          6                 There are also financial incentives

          7  for anti-idling programs. The Federal Highway

          8  Administration's Congestion, Mitigation and Air

          9  Quality grant program makes federal funds available

         10  for idle-reduction programs. Similarly, the U.S.

         11  Department of Energy administers a federal grant

         12  program supporting anti-idling technologies.

         13                 In addition, EPA is developing

         14  additional incentives to support state idling

         15  reduction programs. Last week, EPA proposed guidance

         16  on ways states can quantify and verify emissions

         17  reductions in order to take credit for them in their

         18  clean air programs.

         19                 This provides states with additional

         20  means to meet federal health-related air quality

         21  standards.

         22                 EPA is proud of its efforts to

         23  decrease emissions from motor vehicles and non-road

         24  engines, and applauds the City's efforts to reduce

         25  idling. Limiting idling is a cost-effective,
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          2  common-sense way to decrease air pollution and

          3  address the frightening incidence of asthma and

          4  respiratory illness in our cities. In the past, I

          5  have encouraged New York City to enforce the

          6  existing regulations and I reiterate that

          7  encouragement today.

          8                 Taking action now to reduce vehicle

          9  emissions will not only lead to immediate

         10  improvement in air quality, it will demonstrate a

         11  commitment to the protection of people's health.

         12                 We at EPA look forward to our

         13  continuing work with the City and to forging new

         14  partnerships with the public and private sectors to

         15  make New York City air cleaner. Together, we can

         16  improve air quality and help all of us to breathe a

         17  little bit freer.

         18                 And now we'd be pleased to answer any

         19  questions you might have.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         21  you very much, Ms. Kenny. I'm very happy to hear

         22  about your truck stop electrification pilot project.

         23  Can you tell me just a little bit more about that,

         24  and how depots or whatever would qualify for that,

         25  and on what scale do you openly see this being
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          2  deployed at?

          3                 MS. KENNY: Actually, there's one

          4  quite successful one in the Bronx right now, and

          5  this is really the private sector that came forth in

          6  this innovative way to do it. So, EPA joined with

          7  them and we have found tremendous amount of

          8  emissions reduction. Of course it's a start, you

          9  know, I think there's enough space for 20 trucks

         10  right now and of course there are many more that

         11  come, but, you know, it is incremental and it is a

         12  good innovative way of thinking. It's happening in

         13  other states across the country as well.

         14                 I don't know if Ray Werner would like

         15  to add anything?

         16                 MR. WERNER: Yes. Essentially that's

         17  it. The problem in the Hunt's Point terminal, that

         18  trucks would sit overnight, and they would

         19  essentially need it for air conditioning heat or

         20  they'd sleep in their cab and this is a very

         21  innovative approach and it's actually starting to

         22  take off. And as I say, there are federal grant

         23  monies available through the federal highway

         24  administration and the Department of Energy for

         25  these kinds of pilot projects.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. It

          3  seems like a terrific idea, and I wanted to see how

          4  we could try to facilitate that.

          5                 You mentioned in your statement about

          6  the CMAC funds and how CMAC funds can be used for

          7  these idle-reduction programs. Can you tell me what

          8  kind of entities might be eligible for such CMAC

          9  monies? Would that be governments or private

         10  entities or?

         11                 MR. WERNER: For example, the truck

         12  stop electrification project could qualify for that

         13  and can qualify that. I can share with you a policy

         14  statement from the Federal Highway Administration

         15  that states that, but they're willing to consider

         16  other innovative anti-idling programs. They're

         17  actually looking to encourage the program itself.

         18  These aren't operating funds for an anti-idling

         19  program, but to encourage innovative approaches, and

         20  similarly the Department of Energy has similar funds

         21  available.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. Yes, we'd

         23  like to certainly find out about it as much as we

         24  can.

         25                 In your statement also you made
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          2  reference to the Clean Air Act doesn't require no

          3  idling laws or whatever, and although it would be

          4  hard to quantify it with a number, but if we were to

          5  do a really good job, seat-of-the-pants kind of

          6  analysis, or just whatever, just impression, what

          7  kind of series then could we make in terms of

          8  reductions in emissions were we to do a lot better

          9  than what we're doing now and really cracking down?

         10  What kind of numbers reduction?

         11                 MS. KENNY: Some of the numbers I read

         12  earlier about the kinds of emissions that are

         13  created by idling and, you know, what one truck or

         14  reducing that would cost, is certainly something we

         15  can take to heart. You know, I think that one of the

         16  things that we can do really is to continue to

         17  educate people about the effects of idling. You

         18  know, often it is ignorance and people don't realize

         19  it and, of course, there are some practical matters

         20  as we've mentioned and some of the ways around that

         21  are what is actually happening at Hunts Point and

         22  providing a way for people to keep warm in their

         23  cabs if they're going to be spending the night, that

         24  doesn't cause that kind of, those kinds of dreadful

         25  emissions.
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          2                 MR. WERNER: We've made a lot of

          3  progress cleaning up the air, and that's why the

          4  diesel has essentially been the last of the major

          5  emitters to be controlled and so it is

          6  proportionally a very large portion of the remaining

          7  problem. A lot of this will be resolved through the

          8  newer engine, but in the meantime we have this fleet

          9  of older diesels out there, and this, as you pointed

         10  out, is a quick common sense way of getting at

         11  those. So, while it may not be impressive in terms

         12  of the total emissions when you look at what's

         13  available to be controlled, it takes on new

         14  significance.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And just sort of

         16  following up once again on the Clean Air Act. Of

         17  course, everyone knows that New York City region is

         18  a severe non-attainment for ozone and although the

         19  Clean Air Act doesn't require idling laws per se,

         20  when EPA is dealing with the State, when the State

         21  is doing their annual sit (sic) process or whatever

         22  it is, wouldn't they have the ability to indicate

         23  that there's a pretty big number that you could get

         24  out there if you did idling laws or wanted to do

         25  that as part of your submittal.
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          2                 I mean, are those the kinds of

          3  discussions that go on when the sit is being worked

          4  out?

          5                 MS. KENNY: It could be worked into a

          6  sit for example. You know, I think that what we need

          7  to do continuously at EPA is sort of highlight the

          8  areas where these reductions can occur, and give a

          9  menu of options for the states to choose in order to

         10  be rigorous in their ability and their wish to get,

         11  you know, because we are in the non-attainment area.

         12  So there are many things that when taken all

         13  together could really have a significant, add

         14  significant value.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What do you

         16  think of the legislation we have on the table? I

         17  know you made reference to you want us to do all we

         18  can, do you have any specific critiques or whatever,

         19  you would like to share with us on what we put on

         20  the table or?

         21                 MS. KENNY: Really, you know, as a

         22  federal entity, obviously I can't speak to specific

         23  legislation but we certainly are here to give you

         24  our strong support for what you're trying to do with

         25  the anti-idling law that's on the books now, as well
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          2  as enhancing it, because we really have seen, you

          3  know, sort of a cause and effect between the

          4  pernicious idling that can go on, you know, the

          5  pernicious effect of idling that can go on and how

          6  it really does effect air quality. So, we do commend

          7  you for taking this on, and really raising it and

          8  highlighting the problem and trying to work out

          9  solutions for how we can combat some of these

         10  emissions that we know are full of pollutants.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now, I just want

         12  to stray off topic for just a second, just to thank

         13  you for all that you've done regarding cleaning up

         14  diesel fuel, and all of the great work that's going

         15  on in EPA with regard to bringing down the sulfur

         16  and diesel and all the great steps that EPA is

         17  taking to minimize pollution from particulates. Of

         18  course we have the PM 2.5 which is looming, is it

         19  not? And once PM 2.5 is in place, I mean, we're

         20  going to have to do all of this plus more in order

         21  to come into compliance with the PM 2.5 standard;

         22  would that be your assessment?

         23                 MS. KENNY: Always a challenge, you

         24  know, and we must look at every opportunity that we

         25  can, especially when we have the known causes.
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          2                 With that I'll turn it over to Ray.

          3  Thank you very much, and thank you for your

          4  leadership in this matter.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you so

          6  much, Ms Kenny.

          7                 And Mr. Werner, we really appreciate

          8  having you here with us today, and thank you for all

          9  of your good work. Say hi to the delegation for me.

         10                 MR. WERNER: One thing I think I would

         11  share with you is, while we won't comment on the

         12  various aspects of the legislation, I can share with

         13  you a compendium of anti-idling regulation

         14  throughout the State, and I think if you view them

         15  you will see some of the approaches the state has

         16  taken.

         17                 For example, I know in New York

         18  City's regulation, existing regulation, 40 degrees

         19  is a cutoff. I think you'll note that a lot of other

         20  states use a lower temperature, 20 degrees, 25

         21  degrees, so I suggest you take a look at this, and I

         22  think there's information in here that may help you

         23  shape the City's legislation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Absolutely. We

         25  greatly appreciate any information that might help
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          2  us to do what we want to do.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. WERNER: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Next we have the pleasure of hearing

          8  from Deputy Commissioner Bob Avaltroni from DEP. And

          9  Peter Mazel, am I saying that right, from the Taxi

         10  and Limousine Commission?

         11                 MR. MAZER: Mazer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, that's an R.

         13  I think it's a combination of me not having my

         14  reading glasses and the writing as well.

         15                 Thank you very much for being with us

         16  today. We appreciate your participation in our

         17  hearing, and I will call on Committee Counsel, Donna

         18  DeCostanzo, to administer the oath and then you can

         19  identify yourself for the record and proceed with

         20  testimony.

         21                 Donna.

         22                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         23  right hand.

         24                 In the testimony that you're about to

         25  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the
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          2  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I do.

          4                 MR. MAZER: I will.

          5                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          7                 MR. MAZER: Good afternoon,

          8  Chairperson Gennaro, members of the Environmental

          9  Protection Committee. My name is Peter Mazer and I'm

         10  the General Counsel to the New York City Taxi and

         11  Limousine Commission.

         12                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         13  testify on Intros numbers 378, 560, 587 and 606,

         14  regarding idling restrictions and penalties.

         15                 The rules of the Taxi and Limousine

         16  Commission presently require that licensed taxicab

         17  drivers comply with the air pollution code of the

         18  City of New York, including the prohibition against

         19  idling of vehicles for more than three minutes.

         20                 TLC rules also require that each

         21  licensed driver comply with all rules and

         22  regulations governing the operation of vehicles,

         23  including the anti-idling provision of the

         24  Administrative Code.

         25                 The TLC has promulgated a rule,
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          2  Number 2-25(f) which states that the driver shall

          3  comply with the air pollution control code of the

          4  City of New York and shall not cause or permit the

          5  engine of his taxicab to idle for more than three

          6  minutes.

          7                 This rule violation carries a penalty

          8  of $25. In addition, Rule No. 6-16(c)(1) applies New

          9  York State and New York City Traffic laws to all

         10  for-hire vehicles, including specifically laws,

         11  rules and regulations governing stationary vehicles.

         12                 In addition, rule 2-21(b) applies the

         13  same standards to New York City taxicab drivers.

         14                 In a current form, none of these

         15  bills would affect the applicability of the law to

         16  TLC licensed vehicles. However, if penalties for

         17  non-compliance were increased, TLC Board of

         18  Commissioners couldn't consider increasing these

         19  penalties imposed against licensees who fail to

         20  comply with code provisions and TLC rules

         21  prohibiting idling.

         22                 Again, thank you for inviting us to

         23  testify, and I would be pleased to answer any

         24  questions that you may have.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. I
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          2  think what we'll do is we'll let Bob give his

          3  statement and then have questions for both of you

          4  after.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI:

          6  Actually, Mr. Chairman, I don't have an opening

          7  statement. We're here to answer questions that you

          8  have, and that was the opening statement on behalf

          9  of the Administration.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's fine.

         11  We'll get right into it.

         12                 Mr. Mazer, with regard to the penalty

         13  of $25 for cabs that would violate the idling law,

         14  how many violations were given last year?

         15                 MR. MAZER: That number  I don't know.

         16  The way it's enforced with respect to taxicab

         17  drivers is one of three ways. It's either a summons

         18  issued by a police officer who would issue a TLC

         19  rule violation to one of our licensees by a TLC

         20  inspector who could also issue a summons to one of

         21  our licensees, or in the context of a consumer

         22  complaint where, for example, a passenger may

         23  complain that at a taxi stand they see vehicles

         24  idling or perhaps a neighborhood complaint could

         25  come out from a community car service base where
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          2  they see vehicles idling on a regular basis, neither

          3  the passenger could file the complaint or the TLC

          4  could send enforcement officers out to do some

          5  visual observation and issue summonses.

          6                 The problem with identifying the

          7  number of rule violations is that with respect to

          8  the more general rules, the 6-16(c)(1) and the

          9  2-21(b), these cover a whole magnitude of

         10  violations, it could be anything from the

         11  anti-idling violation to double-parking, parking in

         12  a bus stop, going through a red light or whatever,

         13  and we were not able to break them down through any

         14  kind of computer run since we have a general number

         15  that's actually thousands of summonses that were

         16  adjudicated last year, but to specifically say how

         17  many summonses were for anti-idling violations, we

         18  were unable to identify that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How about this:

         20  Certainly you have your group of your TLC inspectors

         21  that go out there and do enforcement, and to what

         22  extent is a focus on idling any part of the mission?

         23  Is it something which is done, is it something which

         24  is stressed by TLC manager to make sure --

         25                 MR. MAZER: It is definitely done in
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          2  response, particularly to complaints at particular

          3  locations.

          4                 The problem with idling, of course,

          5  requires a certain amount of visual observation

          6  where if you see vehicles in motion, you're not

          7  going to have idling obviously. Taxicabs tend to be

          8  in motion and tend to only stop in response to

          9  hails, where you might see idling would be at

         10  taxistands.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, of

         12  course.

         13                 MR. MAZER: And there would be some

         14  enforcement there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, I think

         16  that's in areas where there would be idling, I mean

         17  if they're easy to figure out where those locations

         18  are.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I can

         20  help out in this regard. DOT and NYPD issued a total

         21  of 238 NOVs collectively.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Two-hundred and

         23  --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Idling

         25  vehicles. For idling vehicles.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: This is all the

          3  agencies?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: That's

          5  NYPD and DOT, additionally DEP issued 86 violations.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And so all

          7  together --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: So we

          9  have about 325 total violations issued for idling.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: For the year for

         11  all kinds of vehicles.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: That's

         13  correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, so this is

         15  why we're here, because we've got to figure out

         16  where to do a little -- that's like one a day or

         17  something like that in the entire City.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes,

         19  and we can speak a little bit to our collaborative

         20  efforts, and I think that some of them that you were

         21  aware of.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: We

         24  could speak to the collaborative efforts that the

         25  Administration has taken, as well as with the
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          2  Council.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, well, why

          4  don't you just walk us through that a little bit.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

          6  With respect to the bills that we have on the table,

          7  if I can go through each bill maybe that would get

          8  better clarification in terms of the positions we

          9  take as the bills are written, but we have the same

         10  objective and certainly we are in support of what

         11  Regional Administrator Kenny came out with.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: And to

         14  speak a little bit specifically to the Hunts Point

         15  effort, I think the Mayor was very aggressive in his

         16  efforts to support giving the delegation to the

         17  people in the Hunts Point area, to take care of a

         18  problem that existed there. So, I know you supported

         19  that as well.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: So

         22  this is something we look to do collaboratively, and

         23  getting away from the bills that I will speak to,

         24  but Intro. 606 speaks to expanding our enforcement

         25  authority and we have taken steps through the
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          2  delegation of the Commissioner of DEP to do that.

          3  For instance, we've done that with Parks, and we

          4  will continue to look and evaluate that, and our

          5  position at this point is that a bill is not

          6  necessary, in fact we can do that through a

          7  delegation process and we will do that in the

          8  future, just as we did with the private sector at

          9  Hunt's Point and what we are doing with the Parks

         10  Department and we will review where that is

         11  necessary in the future.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. But there

         13  wouldn't be any opposition then to doing 606, it

         14  would just do legislatively what --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I

         16  think legislatively we are looking at the situation

         17  where because of certain legal questions that need

         18  to be addressed, and when we have the opportunity to

         19  delegate through the DEP Commissioner, we feel

         20  that's a powerful tool. And we will address those

         21  issues in that regard as we've certainly shown

         22  through our Hunt's Point Initiative, as well as what

         23  we've done with Parks Department.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How about

         25  Sanitation?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: We

          3  would look to do that with Sanitation as well, yes.

          4                 As you know, Sanitation issues right

          5  now on behalf of DEP and they've come before ECP on

          6  a continual basis, but we will be certainly willing

          7  to look at any areas that we can enhance that.

          8                 Just taking a step further also, the

          9  Department of Education has things that they are

         10  able to do as we speak through what they call the

         11  Office of Pupil Transit -- Transport, and that is

         12  tied into an actual commercial contract with bus

         13  companies where they are able to issue violations

         14  that go against the contracts those commercial

         15  vehicles have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: So,

         18  what I'm suggesting, we are not opposed to the

         19  concept and the approach, we certainly support that

         20  from an environmental perspective, I think just the

         21  way to get to that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, but right

         23  now we don't have Sanitation writing these

         24  violations right now, right?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: We do
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          2  not have them issuing the idling violations right

          3  now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: That's

          6  correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But we just have

          8  to see if we can try and do, you know, whatever we

          9  can to increase the amount of enforcement.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I

         11  think as you know, as Administrator Kenny pointed

         12  out, and a key ingredient here is education, because

         13  it's allowing people that operate on a routine

         14  basis, and we're backing into the other bills.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Go ahead.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: On

         17  what we can do to obviously decrease idling of

         18  vehicles, knowing full well that the

         19  responsibilities they would have, we do not want to

         20  take their ability, you know, remove their ability

         21  to do their jobs.

         22                 I think that's an important

         23  component, and the education factor is important to

         24  us.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And with the
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          2  education, the one that would require the signage

          3  would be 587. I have my own little package of bills

          4  made up here.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Right,

          6  and Intro. 587, we're not taking the position pro

          7  587, what we do know is that DOT already installed

          8  100 signs at tunnel locations.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: And

         11  the bill was written, with the review that we were

         12  able to take, concerned us from the potential number

         13  of signs that would contradict what we already say.

         14                 So, I think that's what we need,

         15  we're for increasing penalties, and that goes back

         16  to some of the things we've talked about on other

         17  issues.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Of

         20  course, in our minds that will send a message that

         21  this is not to be accepted and it will promote

         22  people to do what is necessary and what is right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, just to kind

         24  of keep sort of a running total, we spoke about 606

         25  and where you are on that, and with regard to 587,
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          2  you support the increased penalties?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

          4  We feel that will promote compliance.

          5                 And again, we don't want to be bound

          6  to something again that is so heavy handed. We want

          7  to educate at the same time and we want to be able

          8  to have people that don't comply pay those

          9  penalties. We certainly agree with you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: With regard to

         11  Education, would that be through signage, or would

         12  that be through --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I

         14  think what we do, for instance, Hunts Point, as the

         15  Administrator pointed out, is something that's

         16  ongoing. You never lose the ability to educate, and

         17  that's something whether we do it through this

         18  process or we do a joint effort.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: You

         21  know, this is something that we are doing now and

         22  will be doing in the future.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, because the

         24  bill talks about signage and doesn't have an

         25  educational mandate beyond that. But certainly you
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          2  and your folks, and what you've done with Hunts

          3  Point and all that, do you have something that's

          4  replicated like bus companies and this kind of

          5  thing? Is there an ongoing education initiative for

          6  bus operators, whatever, either from DEP or other

          7  City agencies to make sure that everyone is supposed

          8  to know about the idling law?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Again,

         10  that goes to heightened awareness of what you can do

         11  and what you can't do. And what we don't want to do

         12  is we don't want to jump into and be bound by

         13  legislation again without being able to review it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But, again, if I

         15  could just sort of jump over to the oversight part

         16  of the hearing, I'm trying to find out, you know,

         17  what you actually are doing now with regard to the

         18  various entities that should be made --

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

         20  And again, we're working with our sister agencies

         21  to, again, we don't want to call it educate them,

         22  familiarize them with what we've done, for instance,

         23  with the Parks Department right now, giving them the

         24  ability to issue summonses and to spread that a

         25  little future to other areas and other sister
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          2  agencies, and that's a form of education and

          3  familiarization.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, certainly

          5  anything that can be done to talk to trucking

          6  companies and bus companies and others.

          7                 I would just like to recognize

          8  Council Member Vallone and Council Member Yassky,

          9  and Council Member Yassky, of course, is the prime

         10  sponsor of Intro. 606. We're very grateful to have

         11  him with us here today.

         12                 And with regard to Intro. 560, that

         13  would speak about emergency vehicles, and would

         14  limit the exemption for vehicles that are either

         15  responding or preparing to respond; does DEP or the

         16  Administration have any view of this bill that it

         17  would like to share?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Well,

         19  the concern, for instance, our siting model involves

         20  EMS under the Fire Department, and involves

         21  ambulances. Now we have medications that are stored,

         22  obviously, so, again, familiarization, the area of

         23  education is very important in how we do this, and

         24  not restrict these people in performing the

         25  functions that are so necessary to the City.
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          2                 We agree that we should -- obviously

          3  we are all in agreement that we want to reduce the

          4  number of idling vehicles that we have in the City,

          5  whether it be, obviously in the City of New York or

          6  any idling vehicle.

          7                 So, we just feel that we need to take

          8  a look, better look, at what we do from an emergency

          9  response perspective, to make sure that we are in

         10  sync with what the job responsibilities are and how

         11  we can reducing the idling vehicles.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         13                 With regard to Intro. 378, the one

         14  that would create kind of like a zero tolerance

         15  standard for commercial vehicles, you know, unless

         16  the engine is required to be on to operate a lift or

         17  some kind of refrigerator or something like that,

         18  this would speak to commercial vehicles.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Our

         20  concern here is, again, that we have agencies like

         21  the Department of Sanitation that cue vehicles they

         22  leave in the depot for instance, where DEP vehicles,

         23  that while preparing to load or unloading are

         24  performing their functions, so we want to make sure

         25  we get a realistic approach that would reduce the
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          2  idling vehicles, but again, not put them in a

          3  position where they can't do their jobs.

          4                 And this also applies to people in

          5  their tow trucks, when they are enforcing, when they

          6  are hooking up a vehicle to be towed.

          7                 And so, we agree with the concept. We

          8  agree with reducing idling vehicles, but we just

          9  want to take everything into consideration that not

         10  to put a certainly agency in a position where they

         11  can't do their job appropriately.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 At this point I'd like to call upon

         15  Council Member Yassky, prime sponsor of Intro. 606,

         16  who has a statement to make and I'm sure a question

         17  or two.

         18                 Council Member Yassky.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, thank

         20  you so much, Chair Gennaro. And let me just say I

         21  want to thank you and commend you for holding this

         22  hearing. I think being serious about reducing idling

         23  by trucks, buses, other commercial vehicles is one

         24  of the most important steps we can take on clean

         25  air.
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          2                 I also really want to commend the

          3  staff of the Committee for the preparatory

          4  memorandum that I don't know how got circulated to

          5  the public, but it sets out the case for why all

          6  these bills are necessary in about as compelling a

          7  way as I see it, so I want to thank you, Mr. Chair,

          8  and the staff.

          9                 But my only question, I understand,

         10  and I apologize, I sit on a committee that's having

         11  a hearing at this moment, I wanted to come over for

         12  this, and I apologize for not being here, but I

         13  understand that you testified that approximately 80,

         14  DEP gives out maybe 80 idling summonses in a year

         15  and other agencies another 250 or so; is that

         16  correct?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: That

         18  is correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So, given

         20  those numbers, I'm sure you would agree that that is

         21  not really, not the tip of the iceberg, but the tip

         22  of the tip of the iceberg, in terms of the number of

         23  idling of violations that are committed every single

         24  day. Is there any reason not to get a maximum amount

         25  of enforcement, resources brought to bear on this
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          2  problem specifically?

          3                 And I commend DEP for giving Parks,

          4  lending Parks the authority, or extending to Parks

          5  Department the authority that you have to enforce,

          6  but why not do it for the other agencies as well?

          7  And why not make it a permanent policy, at least

          8  until we've made some material progress?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Well,

         10  Council member, again, we share your concerns and I

         11  think by the step that we're taking delegating our

         12  authority to the Parks Department, delegating our

         13  authority to the Hunts Point private sector, has

         14  shown an open mind obviously in dealing with the

         15  issue of idling vehicles.

         16                 We agree we can do more and we feel

         17  that it doesn't require at least the passage of

         18  legislation to do this. It makes it easy for the DEP

         19  Commissioner to delegate that responsibility. And we

         20  will do that, and what we want to try to do, again,

         21  understand completely what the responsibilities are

         22  of these agencies, what type of impact it would have

         23  on them, and also realize the goal and objective

         24  that you're looking to attain as we are to reduce

         25  the number of idling vehicles that we have in the
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          2  City.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. Well, I

          4  won't belabor this, Chair. Thank you, again. I would

          5  say I think I understand your response which is

          6  you're going to look at this as an administrative

          7  matter. I would say from the point of view of the

          8  Council, I think and I believe that many of my

          9  colleagues do, that to do everything we can to make

         10  sure that the maximum amount of resources available

         11  are devoted to this. So, I persist in saying this

         12  would be a very worthwhile thing to do.

         13                 Mr. Chair, thank you, again, so much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         15  Council Member Yassky. And that's why I was happy

         16  and proud to sign on as a prime sponsor as well on

         17  Intro. 606, and I thank you for your leadership on

         18  this important issue.

         19                 Council Member Vallone.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair.

         22                 I also commend Council Member Yassky

         23  for putting in this legislation and thank you for

         24  having this hearing. I apologize for my lateness, as

         25  Council Member Yassky and Koppell, I came from the
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          2  Education hearing, and I had hearings before that,

          3  and I wasn't able to eat, so I apologize.

          4                 You mentioned you gave out 80

          5  summonses, about how many complaints do you actually

          6  get a year?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: We had

          8  a total of 646 complaints last year, and that again

          9  covers not only DEP, it covers all the agencies.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And can you

         11  sum up for us what type of complaints you typically

         12  get? What type of vehicles, what type of situations

         13  arise most often?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: That

         15  would vary, Councilman. It would vary.

         16                 I could not tell you off the top of

         17  my head that a certain percentage was buses or a

         18  certain percentage was commercial trucks, but I

         19  could not figure that off the top of my head, but it

         20  would be reasonable I think to probably agree that

         21  it was probably buses.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And what

         23  happens when a complaint comes into your agency?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: It

         25  comes through again 311, and we send an inspector
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          2  out to look at that. If it comes through PD, again,

          3  311 will route that appropriately, accordingly to

          4  the agency.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So then

          6  what's the -- I think we know the answer to this,

          7  but I'd like to hear it, the reason that you get so

          8  many more complaints than actual violations?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Well,

         10  actually we have to find that there is a violation,

         11  you know, to be issued, that we have someone that's

         12  non-compliant with the local law.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay, if

         14  possible I'd like you to get back to us on the type

         15  of complaints that you mostly get, we might be able

         16  to address it a little bit better, and I'd like to

         17  now defer to my colleagues. Thank you.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Thank

         19  you, Council Member Vallone.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I have just two

         21  follow-up quick questions.

         22                 What kind of training do DEP or other

         23  agency employees receive regarding the enforcement

         24  of idling restrictions?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Our
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          2  inspectors are fully trained with respect to the air

          3  code and it's not unlike any other area of

          4  responsibility that we would have with respect to

          5  air or noise. So, we enforce the air code and we

          6  enforce the noise code, and we conduct classes with

          7  our sister agencies to make sure they're aware of

          8  their responsibilities.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And currently

         10  how does the City handle repeat violations of idling

         11  restrictions? I mean, is there a way to know who the

         12  first, second and third time violators are? Are

         13  there different penalties that are assessed?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: It

         15  would be in the code, and obviously the penalties

         16  would increase with the number of violations one

         17  would get.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's what

         19  happens now.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I know that

         22  Council Member Yassky has one or two more questions

         23  to ask, but before I turn it back to Council Member

         24  Yassky, I just would like to thank you publicly for

         25  the responsiveness that your office has shown to
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          2  complaints that have come to my office. And I'm sure

          3  other Council members have the same thing, sometimes

          4  the complaints don't go to 3-1-1, they go to the

          5  local Councilman. I think that's a good thing. And I

          6  had to interact with you and your staff and Jerry

          7  Kalpin and others who have been very, very helpful

          8  in my own sort of local crackdown on idling in the

          9  24th Council District, I'd like to thank you for

         10  your responsiveness to the issues in my district, so

         11  I appreciate that.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: And we

         13  look forward to working with you in the future. You

         14  know the Mayor's position is very aggressive to

         15  bringing the quality of life to the City that it

         16  deserves.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Council Member

         18  Yassky.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you. I

         20  just wanted to also ask about another provision of

         21  Intro. 606 that I don't think has been discussed,

         22  and that is the citizens complaint provision. This

         23  is a procedure that already exists as I understand

         24  in DEP and is quite useful where citizens complain

         25  about bus idling can trigger and enforcement

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  proceeding, and this bill would extend that to

          3  trucks as well.

          4                 Do you have an opinion as to whether

          5  that would be useful?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Again,

          7  Councilman, you know, I think we're speaking the

          8  same language and I'm not in opposition to get to

          9  the finish line the way you want to get to the

         10  finish line. I think we're just taking a different

         11  approach, and our approach is one where I think with

         12  the Commissioner having to delegate, and we are in

         13  the process of working, as I said, with the private

         14  sector, I will repeat myself, with Hunts Point, with

         15  the Parks Department, and with other agencies in the

         16  future, as we testify needs, we will be able to work

         17  with that and we will be able to work with the

         18  public. I think Chairman Gennaro puts it very well

         19  in terms of I hope that any member of this Committee

         20  has always had a responsive relationship with our

         21  office and we look forward to having that in the

         22  future. I know we respect you greatly and we respect

         23  what we're trying to do here.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'd like to also
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          2  point out for the record, we've had some air issues

          3  in my district and, you know, Bob has sent his staff

          4  out to my office to talk to the constituents and do

          5  education efforts and it's been helpful and I do

          6  appreciate it.

          7                 I'd like to let the good people at

          8  DEP know, that these bottles are used for storing

          9  the best water in the whole world. New York City tap

         10  water goes into these bottles, but it's always

         11  helpful to carry it around in little bottles. I

         12  always have some tap water with me at all --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I'm

         14  glad you took the label off. Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Absolutely.

         17                 Thank you both very much for coming.

         18  We appreciate your being here, and thanks again.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Thank

         20  you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Next we will

         22  hear from Lois Tendler, from the New York City

         23  Transit Authority, to be followed by the delegation

         24  from Local 100, the Transport Workers of America.

         25                 Oh, I'm sorry, I called Lois Tendler,
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          2  but it appears that Bill -- I can't make out that

          3  last name?

          4                 MR. PARSLEY: Parsley.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Parsley, okay.

          6  It's wonderful to try to get by without reading

          7  glasses. I lost my reading glasses the other day, so

          8  now I just look at it and whatever.

          9                 Mr. Parsley, thank you so much for

         10  being here with us today. We appreciate it very

         11  much. Counsel to the Committee will give the oath

         12  and then you can proceed with your good testimony.

         13                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         14  right hand.

         15                 In the testimony that you're about to

         16  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         17  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         18                 MR. PARSLEY: I will.

         19                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         21                 MR. PARSLEY: Good afternoon, Chairman

         22  Gennaro and members of the Committee.

         23                 My name is William Parsley, I'm

         24  Director of Research and Development in MTA New York

         25  City Transit's Department of Buses.
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          2                 I'm here today to address the

          3  Committee's concerns about how bus idling affects

          4  air quality in New York City.

          5                 While the Council is considering

          6  several proposed bills today, all of which are

          7  intended to address perceived threats to health

          8  caused by vehicular idling, I'd like to address the

          9  broader issues raised by idling practices and to

         10  share with you some of the steps that we at the

         11  Department of Buses are taking to address air

         12  quality concerns.

         13                 Recently, as you are aware, the

         14  Council's Committee on Oversight and Investigation

         15  issued a report entitled "Idling Buses Exhausting

         16  Our Health." This report investigated compliance by

         17  all buses operating in New York City with New York

         18  City's anti-idling law, which has been in effect

         19  since 1971.

         20                 Because the data in the report is

         21  analyzed in the aggregate and makes no distinction

         22  between buses operated by New York City Transit,

         23  buses operated by New York City DOT's franchisees

         24  and tour buses, it is hard to assess the impact New

         25  York City Transit's bus operations had on the
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          2  report's finding that, "while most buses were found

          3  to be within the three-minute limit, many of those

          4  that exceeded it did so by fairly large margins, in

          5  some cases idling more than five times as long as

          6  they should have."

          7                 Moreover, because the operations of

          8  New York City Transit buses are subject to State

          9  regulations, rather than City, the measuring

         10  standard for Transit's compliance is five minutes,

         11  except for exceptions with extend that time when the

         12  weather outside is below 40 degrees Fahrenheit.

         13                 Having referenced the New York State

         14  Department of Environmental Conservation's

         15  regulation 217-3, which for the most part limits

         16  idling to no more than five minutes at any layover

         17  or terminal location, as well as any depot, the

         18  Committee should be aware that it is New York City

         19  Transit's policy, to eliminate engine idling. Our

         20  permanent bulletin on this issue, as revised in

         21  November 2000, and issued to all bus operators,

         22  clearly states that, "New York City Transit

         23  Department of Buses policy is to eliminate engine

         24  idling." The policy goes on to instruct that, "when

         25  parking, stopping or standing, bus operators must
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          2  immediately shut off their bus engines, unless

          3  driving in revenue or non-revenue service."

          4                 Because we understand the broader

          5  relationship between our bus operation and the

          6  quality of air in New York City, New York City

          7  Transit has implemented a clean fuel bus program,

          8  which has greatly reduced harmful emissions from our

          9  bus fleet.

         10                 While the program addresses the

         11  entire bus fleet and increases the number of

         12  compressed natural gas buses and hybrid electric

         13  buses in the fleet, I'd like to talk today about how

         14  the program relies upon the aggressive

         15  implementation of strategies that we have grouped

         16  together under the rubric of clean diesel

         17  technologies. Our clean fuel program has been

         18  designed to provide cost effective emissions

         19  reduction fleet-wide as quickly as possible.

         20                 Thus, a significant part of the $304

         21  million allocated in the MTA's 2000 to 2004 capital

         22  plan for clean fuel programs is dedicated for

         23  expanding the use of clean diesel technologies.

         24                 Our strategy on this front

         25  acknowledges that modern EPA compliant diesel
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          2  engines are 94 percent cleaner than engines

          3  purchased ten years ago. Thus, our plan recognizes

          4  that the replacement of older diesel buses with new

          5  buses is an effective and cost-effective emissions

          6  reduction strategy.

          7                 Toward that end we have repowered 594

          8  buses. And that means we've taken out two-stroke

          9  engines and put in new four-stroke engines, thereby

         10  retiring old engines up to six years early.

         11                 Today there are less than 400

         12  pre-1990 engines left in the fleet.

         13                 Moreover, our plan recognizes that

         14  the use of advanced clean diesel technologies can

         15  reduce emissions a further 80 to 85 percent, thus

         16  our entire diesel fleet has since September 2000,

         17  run on ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel, providing a 29

         18  to 78 percent reduction in emissions. Because

         19  combining the use of ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel

         20  with diesel particulate filters or DPFs, result in

         21  an 88 to 94 percent reduction in emissions, we are

         22  committed to retrofitting our entire diesel fleet

         23  with DPFs.

         24                 Also, all newly procured diesel buses

         25  have been ordered with DPFs installed. Over 2,400
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          2  buses now have DPFs.

          3                 In closing, I am pleased to report

          4  that average particulate emissions for New York City

          5  Transit's bus fleet are down 90 percent from what

          6  they were in 1986.

          7                 Our efforts have been recognized by

          8  others, most notably the USEPA, which awarded MTA

          9  New York City Transit its 2002 Clean Air Excellence

         10  Award for our Clean Fuel Bus Program, which it

         11  acknowledged it's providing one of the "best

         12  examples of clean air leadership from across the

         13  country."

         14                 We've made tremendous strides and

         15  look forward to continuing successes as our Clean

         16  Fuel Bus Program is fully utilized.

         17                 I'm now happy to answer any questions

         18  the Committee might have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         20  you very much for your comprehensive statement. We

         21  appreciate hearing your views on this and also

         22  giving you the opportunity on behalf of the MTA to

         23  take a well-deserved bow for what you've done with

         24  the ultra-low sulfur diesel and all the other

         25  efforts that you've taken. I'm sure that the
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          2  citizens of New York really appreciate that.

          3                 And when we're talking about the

          4  ultra-low sulfur diesel, you're using 30 parts per

          5  million?

          6                 MR. PARSLEY: Less than 30 parts per

          7  million.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Less than 30 is

          9  your standard.

         10                 MR. PARSLEY: That's right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: With regard to,

         12  again it's not so much an idling question, but it's

         13  a new statement, so I'll get myself a little

         14  latitude here.

         15                 Of the 400 pre-1990 engines that are

         16  left in the fleet, do we have like a retirement date

         17  for those? Like when do you think it will be

         18  pre-1990 engine-free so-to-speak?

         19                 MR. PARSLEY: We're trying to work on

         20  a plan that will nail that down.

         21                 Right now our new bus deliveries have

         22  been delayed, and that has been past our ability to

         23  retire older buses. So, I can't nail that down for

         24  you. But it certainly will be in 2004.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. So, by
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          2  2004, all will be pre-1990 so to speak.

          3                 Again, giving myself more latitude

          4  here, with regard to the DPFs, which are installed

          5  in buses now, are those like the successor

          6  technology to the trap oxidizer?

          7                 MR. PARSLEY: It's similar in that it

          8  captures the exhaust and then burns it off. It's

          9  very dissimilar in the sense that the original trap

         10  oxidizers were real contraptions. There were blowers

         11  and heaters and flames and electrics and all kinds

         12  of things to make them work.

         13                 These are simply catalyzed --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's what sort

         15  of happened, they didn't work all that well?

         16                 MR. PARSLEY: Well, I take a little

         17  exception to that. I think they work in the sense

         18  that they removed particular filter from the

         19  exhaust. They certainly did.

         20                 What happened was they became

         21  obsolete before we even really completely rolled

         22  them out. They were problematic, but we were able to

         23  keep them working, and they were on buses. We had

         24  them on over 700 buses, but what happened is the

         25  manufacturers would no longer support them because
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          2  they became obsolete --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I

          4  understand.

          5                 MR. PARSLEY: -- As the emissions

          6  reductions. The EPA emissions criteria got more

          7  stringent, they weren't necessary anymore.

          8                 Now, to answer your question, though,

          9  the new particulate filters are passive devices,

         10  very much like the catalytic converters in your car.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         12                 MR. PARSLEY: Except that they are

         13  filters, only gas can pass through them. But they

         14  have a catalyzed wash coat, chemical reaction

         15  happens within that ceramic --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         17                 MR. PARSLEY: But there are no moving

         18  parts, if I could put it that way.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, but there

         20  would be service on a regular basis, of course, and

         21  all that?

         22                 MR. PARSLEY: We need to clean them

         23  once a year. You literally take them out, bring them

         24  out to a service, where the ash that has accumulated

         25  in them is collected and then we're able to put them

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  back in the bus.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Because I was

          4  the analyst to this Committee before being the

          5  Chairman of it, and the previous Chairman of the MTA

          6  made --

          7                 MR. PARSLEY: I hope I didn't

          8  contradict him.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, no, no. It's

         10  just that he talked about the trap oxidizers and

         11  what promise they held, so the next year, it was

         12  kind of like a mixed review, and so --

         13                 MR. PARSLEY: I think, if I just could

         14  say, we've tried to press the envelope on a lot of

         15  these issues.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         17                 MR. PARSLEY: And that was the late

         18  eighties, we began to work on those original trap

         19  oxidizers. And I take it as just an indication that

         20  we're looking farther ahead.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me just talk

         22  to you about idling for a change, while we're all

         23  here.

         24                 MR. PARSELY: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: With regard to
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          2  your fleet of buses being subject to violations and

          3  whatever, do local authorities write you summonses?

          4  Can we do that? Do you get summonses? How does that

          5  work?

          6                 MR. PARSELY: Counsel advises me that

          7  New York City Transit is not subject to, under the

          8  Public Authority's Law it's not subjected to this

          9  particular City regulation, but it's the state

         10  regulation.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. But is

         12  there any entity out there doing sort of on-site

         13  enforcement of the TA's no idling policy?

         14                 MR. PARSLEY: Again, we've had serious

         15  discussions with New York State DEC about this issue

         16  and about other environmental issues, absolutely.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, but does

         18  the DEC or any other State entity do, you know,

         19  on-site enforcement of your operations? And is it,

         20  obviously regular practice, but does it ever happen

         21  that the State entities would come and give

         22  violations to the --

         23                 MR. PARSLEY: I can't say about giving

         24  violations. Certainly the State has observed our

         25  operations at some time, whether it's ongoing or
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          2  not, I can't tell.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          4                 MR. PARSLEY: But certainly at some

          5  time they have observed our operations, and we have

          6  the discussions with them about bus idling, yes. And

          7  that was one of the things that came out of that,

          8  was a lot of work on our part to educate our people

          9  about bus idling around 2000, I think. I think.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'd like to

         11  recognize Council Member Vallone for questions.

         12                 I believe we've been joined by

         13  Council Member Serrano. So, we're joined by

         14  Councilman Serrano, and I recognize Council Member

         15  Vallone for questioning.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.

         18                 You pretty much asked my question. I

         19  was behind one of those 400-old bus engines this

         20  morning, so I was concerned about when that was

         21  going to happen. Still a little bit concerned

         22  because your plan was from 2000/2004, your capital

         23  plan, and apparently you've got almost 40 percent of

         24  the buses that are still left to be done within that

         25  time period, if you plan to get it done by 2004. Is
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          2  that really a doable goal, considering the fact that

          3  the plan has been around since 2000?

          4                 MR. PARSLEY: Absolutely, and, again,

          5  I think a big part of whatever delay we have had has

          6  been because our new bus deliveries have been

          7  delayed.

          8                 That plan called for us to have 900

          9  buses basically by this time, and we're probably

         10  about 600 new buses short of that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So you're not

         12  actually repowering then, you're going to get a new

         13  bus and get rid of an old bus?

         14                 MR. PARSLEY: Well, the old bus needs

         15  to either be repowered or retired, so if we have new

         16  buses we get to retire them. If we don't have new

         17  buses, we have to repower them.

         18                 So, we figured how many buses we'd

         19  need to repower that wouldn't be retired, and we've

         20  gone ahead and repowered a certain number, and to

         21  answer your question again, I can't tell you exactly

         22  when it will happen, but we're sure that our new

         23  buses will be delivered soon. We have new CNG buses

         24  coming in, hundreds of them. We have hundreds of new

         25  hydro-electric buses coming in that have been
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          2  delayed for two to three years.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: What's the

          4  reason for the delay?

          5                 MR PARSLEY: The reason for delay, in

          6  a nutshell, has been, it's a new model bus, it's a

          7  low-floor bus with a new structure and the

          8  structural qualification has been somewhat

          9  difficult.

         10                 We need to make sure that the bus

         11  will survive in New York City's streets over 12 to

         12  15 years that we're going to use these buses, and we

         13  have a very strict qualification program, and the

         14  manufacturer has had a hard time in validating the

         15  structure of that bus.

         16                 There has been basically a two- to

         17  three-year delay. 580 of these buses are of one

         18  kind, we call them Orion 7's, and you see some of

         19  them now in the new CNG buses that you see in

         20  downtown Brooklyn, and some of them come across here

         21  to Manhattan, some of our new buses, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay, I'm

         23  sure our Chair will continue his vigorous oversight

         24  to ensure that happens, and I commend you for what

         25  you've already done, and thank you for your time.
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          2                 MR. PARSLEY: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          4  Council Member Vallone.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Do you think

          6  that increased signage would help your bus drivers

          7  comply with the idling --

          8                 MR. PARSLEY: We put signage, one of

          9  the initiatives that we took, I told you we took

         10  several initiatives, and one of the initiatives we

         11  took was signage on our bus depots. Very often as

         12  bus drivers would pull up to the bus depot waiting

         13  to pull into the bus depot, they would keep their

         14  buses running, and we have signs now right outside

         15  the depot, I've got one of them here, that says "No

         16  Idling," and I think that's been pretty effective.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You know,

         18  there's no real entity within the TA that this is

         19  their report card on the idling policy or whatever.

         20  To the extent that they make a big deal of it here,

         21  we're hoping we can try to figure out some way that

         22  could be some sort of measurable, demonstrable

         23  measurement of how well the TA as a whole is doing,

         24  making sure that the idling law or that your own

         25  idling policy is enforced, and to the extent that
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          2  other state agencies who would be responsible for

          3  enforcing, state law, which you are subject to, with

          4  regard to the five minutes or whatever it is, that

          5  we could get some feedback or input or observation

          6  by them of it.

          7                 Not that we don't think you're doing

          8  a good job.

          9                 MR. PARSLEY: I understand.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It's always nice

         11  to have, you know, measurements, some sort of

         12  demonstrable report card, I got an A, got a B type

         13  of thing.

         14                 So, thank you very much for being

         15  here, and for all the good things that you're doing,

         16  not only with buses, but with the fuel, with the

         17  ultra low-sulfur fuel.

         18                 Are there other bus fleets in the

         19  nation which are --

         20                 MR. PARSLEY: There are now, and we're

         21  very proud of that. One of the things that the EPA

         22  has cited was not only the fact that we were using

         23  ultra-low sulfur fuel, diesel particulate filters

         24  also working with New York State DEC, but that our

         25  beginning to do that allowed others to do it as

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  well. So, Boston does --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You were the

          4  first to do this?

          5                 MR. PARSLEY: Absolutely. And really,

          6  at a time when nobody thought we could do it. Nobody

          7  thought we could get a fuel supplier to supply, and

          8  of course, the fuel suppliers told us they couldn't

          9  do it either, but they did.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Everyone should

         11  understand also that the 30 parts per million or

         12  less --

         13                 MR. PARSLEY: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The fuel that is

         15  commonly used is how many hundreds of PPM per --

         16                 MR. PARSLEY: The standard is 500 PPM

         17  and the fuel typically is 300 to 400 PPM, if you

         18  measure it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So to go to 300

         20  to 400 PPM down to 30 PPM is --

         21                 MR. PARSLEY: Order of magnitude.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, absolutely.

         23  That's a good thing. We applaud that. Thank you.

         24                 Thanks for being with us.

         25                 Now we have representatives from
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          2  Local 100. Vernon Thorpe, Earl Phillips, and William

          3  -- looks like William Isabell, of Local 100.

          4                 As they're getting settled, to be

          5  followed by a panel from the environmental

          6  community, Swati Prakash, Adam Gitlin, Craig Wilson,

          7  Christina Hemphill, and Jason Babbie, will be our

          8  next panel.

          9                 Always good to be in the room with

         10  representatives of Local 100. Thank you. Thank you

         11  for being here today. We're very appreciative to

         12  have you with us and give us the benefit of your

         13  views.

         14                 Say hi to Roger for us.

         15                 MR. THORPE: I certainly will. Thank

         16  you for having us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. And Ed and

         18  everybody.

         19                 So, Counsel to Committee will give

         20  the oath and then you can proceed with your good

         21  testimony.

         22                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         23  right hand. In the testimony that you're about to

         24  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         25  whole truth and nothing but the truth.
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          2                 MR. THORPE: I do.

          3                 MR. ISABELL: I do.

          4                 MR. PHILLIPS: I do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Would you please

          6  identify yourself and then your colleagues with you.

          7  Of course we have your name but you have to read it

          8  anyway.

          9                 MR. THORPE: Okay. Vernon Thorpe,

         10  Legislative Liaison for the Transport Workers Union,

         11  Local 100.

         12                 MR. PHILLIPS: Earl Phillips, from the

         13  Health and Safety Department with Local 100, TWU.

         14                 MR. ISABELL: William Isabell, TWU

         15  Local 100, a bus operator.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome.

         17                 MR. THORPE: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for

         19  being with us.

         20                 MR. THORPE: Thank you.

         21                 I just want to read a little

         22  testimony here.

         23                 Mr. Speaker, thank you for inviting

         24  Roger Toussant, President of Local 100, Transport

         25  Workers Union, to present testimony in regard to the
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          2  report Idling Buses: Exhausting Our Health, which

          3  came out in October 2003.

          4                 We will be representing President

          5  Toussant at this hearing.

          6                 Our union has always been concerned

          7  about air quality that our members, the riding

          8  public and the community at large are exposed to. We

          9  are very concerned and want to reduce carbon

         10  monoxide emissions, smog and airborne toxic

         11  chemicals, and to even be more specific, diesel

         12  fumes.

         13                 The respiratory and potentially

         14  carcinogenic problems caused by diesel fumes are

         15  well documented. But we are concerned about these

         16  problems since it affects our members and our

         17  families also. We are the first to be exposed to

         18  their potentially health damaging effects.

         19                 We have serious reservations,

         20  however, as to whether legislation aimed at

         21  penalizing bus drivers for excessive bus idling can

         22  be either a fair or an effective response to these

         23  problems.

         24                 On the one hand, it is unlikely that

         25  excessive bus idling is a major factor in diesel
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          2  emissions in New York City, let alone to total air

          3  pollution in this City. On the other hand, you

          4  cannot solve systemic problems by penalizing bus

          5  drivers. We must address systemic problems.

          6                 Your reporting indicates that our

          7  operators are already in compliance with the

          8  three-minute rule more than 75 percent of the time.

          9  This compliance rate is achieved despite the

         10  catch-22 situation in which our operators find

         11  themselves.

         12                 Our members are subject to heavy

         13  fines, if they exceed the three-minute idling limit,

         14  but they are also subject to disciplinary measures

         15  from the employer, if compliance results in a bus

         16  failing to restart and to complaints from the public

         17  if compliance results in buses that are too cold in

         18  winter or too hot in the summer.

         19                 If bus idling is to be effectively

         20  reduced, there must be systemic solutions to restart

         21  and temperature problem, and our members must be

         22  protected against employer penalties.

         23                 As well, we would like to point out

         24  that this legislation is limited to idling between

         25  runs. Yet, significant idling takes place during
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          2  runs when a bus averages less than three miles per

          3  hour, it is spending time idling at stops, at

          4  lights, in traffic jams.

          5                 Introducing bus rapid transit, an

          6  approach to increasing the speed and reliability of

          7  bus service would significantly cut emissions during

          8  runs. What is least likely to cut emissions is

          9  taking the stick to our members. With the

         10  Committee's indulgence, we would like to elaborate

         11  on this by examining conditions under which idling

         12  takes place.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please. Please

         14  do.

         15                 MR. THORPE: Idling in the Winter.

         16  Everyone recognizes that in the dead of winter no

         17  one wants to board an ice-cold bus. To get the bus

         18  warm, especially in the morning or evening, bus

         19  operators following management orders, have to idle

         20  their engines.

         21                 To keep the buses warm during a

         22  layover of service between runs, the bus must be

         23  kept idling.

         24                 If the bus is turned off, it would

         25  lose valuable heat. Management has other employees
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          2  idle these buses very early in the day. On the MTA

          3  and New York City Transit Authority property, often

          4  unseen behind fences, they idle for more than three

          5  minutes, and are in violation of the law.

          6                 You've probably heard complaints

          7  about this practice already.

          8                 If these buses are not warmed up

          9  early in the morning, often hours before their run,

         10  operators are ordered to start their runs with a

         11  cold bus. It sometimes takes a full run to get the

         12  bus warm.

         13                 In Europe we understand engine block

         14  heaters, via electrical outlets, are used to keep

         15  diesel engines warm. These were used in a limited

         16  way here, but that method was discarded. We are not

         17  sure why. This simple, logical method would

         18  completely solve the problem. Similar to what Mrs.

         19  Kenny in the EPA in the Smart Way Program has done

         20  in Hunts Point.

         21                 Idling in Summer Heat. Cooling down

         22  buses in the heat of summer present as significant a

         23  problem as heating them in the winter.

         24                 For example, for older buses such as

         25  in Queens Private Lines, the "cooling down" process
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          2  is very difficult.

          3                 Air conditioning systems often do not

          4  work well. The idling limit of three minutes

          5  prevents real problems, running these buses so as to

          6  not violate the law, while also making it ready for

          7  passengers, can be done, but it would require major

          8  cooperation between all parties, particularly

          9  management.

         10                 Our members and drivers have been

         11  fined trying to cool their buses so that Queens

         12  riders, some of your constituents, are comfortable.

         13                 Routine Idling. Our New York City

         14  Transit members try to hold to the three minute

         15  maximum idling. This is a state law and drivers

         16  receive a summons if they are in violation. Your own

         17  report states that bus operators are 75 percent

         18  compliant to law.

         19                 In polling our divers, the main issue

         20  that comes up again and again is the fear if the

         21  bus, once turned off, won't start. It would stall.

         22  This would constitute a "won't start" report by the

         23  operator back to the Command Center. And we are

         24  instructed to not try and start the bus again for 20

         25  to 30 seconds. If a stall takes place, drivers face
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          2  potentially severe disciplinary repercussions from

          3  the New York City Transit, as well as anger and

          4  frustration from anxious riders.

          5                 Our bus operators are at the 75

          6  percent mark. We want to be at 100 percent. They

          7  they need legal assurance that the employer, New

          8  York City Transit, would not penalize the driver if

          9  the bus would not restart.

         10                 Internal Negative MTA/New York City

         11  Transit Competition Spirals Down Solutions.

         12                 Where a bus fails to restart

         13  following need to shut down the motor at the three

         14  minutes mark, drivers face possible discipline. In

         15  effect, our members face penalties from management

         16  for complying with the law.

         17                 Management has left a trail of poorly

         18  designed and poorly-implemented programs to handle

         19  the "won't starts." For example, driver and

         20  mechanics report past efforts to reduce problems of

         21  "won't starts" on the road through an aggressive

         22  maintenance called "road calls" and "road control."

         23  On the surface they seemed to make sense, but they

         24  did not work. Management's competitive application

         25  of these measures may have resulted in the opposite
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          2  of their stated intentions.

          3                 First line of supervision was driven

          4  by their superiors to come up with maintenance

          5  figures that showed their success in reducing road

          6  problems, such as stalled buses/"won't starts." The

          7  pressure on supervision and then on our members is

          8  to keep the buses rolling. Rather than improving the

          9  situation, it introduced a sense of cynicism that

         10  hurt everyone. For problem resolutions like these,

         11  management solutions require strong public oversight

         12  by public officials.

         13                 Making Service. Our members are

         14  committed to serving the public. That is why we took

         15  these jobs and remain in them today. We are proud to

         16  be on time and reliable. In the terms of the New

         17  York City Transit, that means "making service." But

         18  that commitment is often squandered when we are

         19  forced to break the law. We don't want to violate

         20  the three minute or less rule. But the pressure from

         21  management to "make service" and maintain

         22  productivity forces bus operators to violate the

         23  idling law.

         24                 Too often the transportation

         25  division, which is ruled by "making service" and the
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          2  maintenance division goals of safe operations of the

          3  buses are at odds.

          4                 We hope that the City Council would

          5  consider an independent audit of the New York City

          6  Transit on this issue. The form of the study/audit

          7  is discussed below.

          8                 Solutions Must Be Transparent. The

          9  issue of trust is a major one in regard to the MTA

         10  New York City Transit. Any solution to this problem

         11  must be above reproach. It must have solid

         12  scientific basis so that it holds up professionally

         13  and also has the perception by the riding public and

         14  our members, as being honest.

         15                 We have an example of cooperation

         16  that would make sense here. Our union, along with

         17  the West Harlem Environmental Action, WE ACT, has

         18  proposed the following in regard to diesel exhaust

         19  and other potential problems at the new 100th Street

         20  Lexington Avenue Bus Depot.

         21                 This suggestion is now under

         22  consideration. It could be applied in this instance:

         23                 You can hire an independent, mutually

         24  agreed upon, by the MTA, community residents,

         25  preferably WE ACT, and the Transport Workers Union,
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          2  Local 100, third party, a third party independent,

          3  who would certify through an ongoing and transparent

          4  process, that the operations of the 100th Street Bus

          5  Depot are safe for workers and for local community

          6  residents.

          7                 It's within this context that the

          8  City Council could lend its offices to bring these

          9  parties together, along with other interested

         10  leaders, to start this process.

         11                 The MTA/New York City Transit has

         12  often said that their commitment to the public is

         13  without equal. New publicity brochures herald their

         14  accomplishments. Well, let them now step up to the

         15  plate and work equally with the community, Local

         16  100, TWU and the Council.

         17                 In Summary. Finally, we wonder why

         18  the Council has chosen to target public

         19  transportation in regard to motor vehicle idling. It

         20  seems that commercial trucks are similarly involved

         21  in this problem. Any solution must include that area

         22  of the economy.

         23                 Also, we urge you to also consider

         24  the major service innovation, Bus Rapid Transit, as

         25  another method of reducing emissions in New York
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          2  City. This method was used on Madison Avenue with

          3  tremendous success, and they reduced bus travel time

          4  by 59 percent which has a direct effect on the

          5  idling of buses in traffic.

          6                 In regard to bus operations, we urge

          7  you to look beyond a punitive fining and summons

          8  system in attempting to solve this problem. We

          9  believe there are corrective solutions as well.

         10                 We welcome this hearing as a

         11  beginning for the City Council to get their

         12  collective hands dirty on issues such as this one.

         13  We are eager to help you and anyone else you

         14  designate to put problem behind us.

         15                 And I would like to say, we are

         16  certain that the answer to this problem is a system

         17  redesign and not penalties for our drivers, because

         18  we're mainly here to serve the public.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         21  you very much, Mr. Thorpe, Mr. Phillips and Mr.

         22  Isabell.

         23                 Yes, sometimes you learn a lot at

         24  hearings, and you learn a lot by hearing your

         25  testimony. Yes, I'm just going to go through your
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          2  statement a little bit.

          3                 Because we had envisioned that the

          4  company, you know, would get the violations, but

          5  what you're saying, it gets passed along to the

          6  driver and so they're penalized in some way, whether

          7  it's financial or --

          8                 MR. THORPE: Basically the drivers are

          9  threatened. I have a driver here who could attest to

         10  that.

         11                 MR. ISABELL: What happens is at the

         12  end of the line --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Could you speak

         14  right into the microphone.

         15                 You're Mr. Isabell, right?

         16                 MR. ISABELL: Mr. William Isabell.

         17                 At the end of the line if you're

         18  caught idling more than five minutes, and you're

         19  summonsed, the summons belongs to the operator, the

         20  Authority has made this clear to all operators, that

         21  you eat the fine.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Are you driving

         23  a Transit Authority bus?

         24                 MR. ISABELL: Transit Authority bus.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Because I
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          2  thought we heard that the Transit Authority wasn't

          3  subject --

          4                 MR. ISABELL: They're not subject. The

          5  operator is, though. The fine is the operator's

          6  fine.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

          8                 So the State entity, the Transit

          9  Authority, is not subject.

         10                 MR. ISABELL: They will not take the

         11  penalty for you. If you're caught idling more than

         12  three minutes and you are summoned, you have to pay

         13  that summons.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         15                 MR. ISABELL: The Transit Authority

         16  will not pay it for you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How does it work

         18  with the franchise lines, you know, Queen Surface

         19  and all that?

         20                 MR. THORPE: I'm not sure, but I think

         21  a similar situation.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Yes, I

         23  think we're going to hear testimony from them.

         24                 I would like to recognize the

         25  presence of Council Member Bill DeBlasio from
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          2  Brooklyn, a member of the Committee.

          3                 And this enforcement takes place at

          4  the end of the runs?

          5                 MR. ISABELL: Most of the time there's

          6  an operator where you're going to be summonsed is at

          7  the end of the line. If you're at the end of the

          8  line and you have more than three minutes stand

          9  time, and you have people out in the cold, for

         10  instance, on a day like today if you have an

         11  80-year-old lady standing outside, you'd rather have

         12  her on the bus. The wind is blowing through the bus,

         13  and you turn the bus off, the heat is gone. You turn

         14  it back on and idle more than five minutes and DEP

         15  comes up to you, you have that ticket.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

         17                 Mr. Thorpe, you made reference in

         18  your statement to introducing which you referred to

         19  as "bus rapid transit."

         20                 MR. THORPE: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Could you

         22  elaborate on that a little bit?

         23                 MR. THORPE: Well, bus rapid transit,

         24  what it will basically do is it will create a

         25  situation whereby the bus will travel from point A
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          2  to point B unimpeded by any other traffic, like cars

          3  or trucks. There's a similar thing happening on

          4  Madison Avenue, but the particular bus transit, bus

          5  rapid transit that we'd like to see happen with the

          6  dedicated lanes with barriers which would impede

          7  other traffic from entering the bus' lane, give the

          8  bus a free path.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         10                 MR. THORPE: That exists in

         11  California, Europe. Less emissions, less

         12  particulates in the air.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Hence "bus rapid

         14  transit," I get it.

         15                 MR. THORPE: Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. And you

         17  said it's in limited service now on Madison Avenue?

         18                 MR. THORPE: Well, basically, the bus

         19  lanes there.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. Right.

         21  Right.

         22                 And just going through your

         23  statement, you talked about European practice of

         24  using the engine blocked heaters, which were used

         25  here and then they weren't used anymore. Was that in
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          2  the TA or the franchised lines or both or?

          3                 MR. THORPE: I'm not certain on the

          4  history of that, but I know they're not being used

          5  anymore. I couldn't give you dates and times.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But as far as

          7  you're concerned they worked and they worked well.

          8                 MR. THORPE: Right. I mean, we all

          9  know that the engine warmer will work.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         11                 MR. THORPE: You just would have to

         12  put the structure in place and the necessary

         13  funding.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So the amount of

         15  time it takes to warm the bus up, it just takes a

         16  long time to get the engine itself warm.

         17                 MR. THORPE: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You get the

         19  engine warm and then once the engine is able to

         20  produce inconsistently, then the bus warms quickly

         21  after that. Then the engine warms; is that fair to

         22  say?

         23                 MR. THORPE: Well, I have Earl

         24  Phillips here who can answer that question.

         25                 MR. PHILLIPS: Yes. My name is Earl
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          2  Phillips from Local 100, Health and Safety

          3  Department.

          4                 We had a depot, the last depot we had

          5  with block-heaters, Walnut Depot, you had to use

          6  electrical heaters, plug it into the bus, keep the

          7  engines warm, to prevent the diesel from jelling up.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          9                 MR. PHILLIPS: What happened, though,

         10  early in the morning you have, like from 3:30 in the

         11  morning, 4:00 in the morning, you have mechanics go

         12  in the field, you have buses parked outside the

         13  depots, where they call field parking, and they were

         14  running them for about 15 minutes, get engine warm,

         15  get the heat circulating in the bus. Because inside

         16  the bus you have a lot of metal, the metal inside

         17  the bus attracts the cold.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         19                 MR. PHILLIPS: So management want that

         20  part of the bus, that's what they're concerned

         21  about, getting inside of the bus warm for the

         22  public, okay? In the meantime you run the bus for

         23  ten or 15 minutes, you know, you're polluting the

         24  whole air.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. Sure.
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          2                 MR. PHILLIPS: We have the block

          3  heaters still in place. What will happen, that will

          4  warm the antifreeze up, after you run the blowers in

          5  the bus and circulate the hot air.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And I was also

          7  reading with interest when you were talking about

          8  the independent audit that you wish to propose, and

          9  you know, certainly we will take this up with the

         10  Chairman of the Transportation Committee John Liu,

         11  and always good to see you, great environmental

         12  groups like WE ACT over there, and we're going to be

         13  hearing from them next. Always good to see them, you

         14  know, working with all the people that they do on

         15  behalf of the environment. And so just from our

         16  perspective, this was not an intent on our part to

         17  target drivers or to target even the transportation

         18  industry. We have other bills that we're hearing

         19  today that would focus on trucks and other segments

         20  of like a diesel population to bring sort of kind of

         21  a comprehensive approach to reducing idling all over

         22  the City. And as you can see, we're not even holding

         23  vehicles that service emergencies exempt. We want to

         24  see what we can do there to the extent that it's

         25  practicable.
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          2                 But any time you try to do something

          3  as comprehensive as we're trying to do, there are

          4  always little wrinkles in it and certainly we in no

          5  way, shape or form wish to burden the good men and

          6  women of Local 100 or any other transport workers

          7  who have been doing nothing other than trying to

          8  serve the ridership the best that they can, do a

          9  good job and stay out of trouble with management.

         10                 And, so, you can rest assured that

         11  we've taken into account everything that you've said

         12  today. I'm going to talk to John Liu about this

         13  audit, and we will make sure that we don't do

         14  anything which is going to adversely affect your

         15  membership or your membership's ability to service

         16  the public. So, whatever we do we will certainly

         17  have that mind and we thank you for being here.

         18                 And I don't know for sure but I am

         19  certain that my colleague Bill DeBlasio is going to

         20  have something to say on this as well.

         21                 So, I recognize the good friend and

         22  colleague Bill DeBlasio.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well thank

         24  you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate you

         25  holding the hearings on all of these pieces of
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          2  legislation. I think they're all important. And I

          3  would just say, personally I've got a tremendous

          4  number of concerns and complaints from my community,

          5  not just about one type of idling or another, but

          6  about idling. In other words, I think the testimony

          7  provided by TWU really helps us to understand the

          8  nuances of the situation, the difficulties the

          9  drivers face, the complexities, depending on season.

         10  I'm saying something simpler. I'm saying idling is a

         11  problem. It's a quality of life problem throughout

         12  our neighborhood. I appreciate that the Chair has

         13  chosen to take a number of different pieces of

         14  legislation, all of which interrelate, and bring

         15  them together for this hearing.

         16                 I have a particular personal take on

         17  this. I am an asthma sufferer, as is my wife and my

         18  daughter, and if you are particularly perceptible to

         19  respiratory problems, you feel things like idling

         20  quite strongly. You can really tell when there's a

         21  lot of exhaust in the air and it affects you, and as

         22  we all know, hundreds of thousands of people in the

         23  City suffer.

         24                 So, I appreciate this hearing. I just

         25  want to say, one of the concerns raised by TWU, in
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          2  this very helpful and very clear testimony, was the

          3  need to do something similar for commercial

          4  vehicles. I had introduced legislation, which is

          5  being looked at today, Intro. 378, which looks at

          6  large commercial vehicles, you know, those long

          7  distance haulers in particular, and seeks to create

          8  and enforceable mechanism to reduce idling to the

          9  absolute minimum, and I again want to thank the

         10  Chair for moving that legislation along and all the

         11  other pieces as well.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         14  Council Member DeBlasio.

         15                 I was actually going to recognize you

         16  separately after this panel had stepped down for you

         17  to have an opportunity to speak on Intro. 378, which

         18  is, of course, your bill. I was going to sort of set

         19  that up for you, but I thank you for taking the

         20  opportunity to speak about it now and your valuable

         21  contribution to this hearing and also just to let

         22  the good folks from Local 100 know that this also

         23  serves to show you that we're not just focusing on

         24  the transport industry, we're reaching out to all

         25  sectors, thanks to Councilman DeBlasio and the
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          2  sponsors of Intro. 378.

          3                 So, thank you for being here. Give

          4  our best to Roger Toussant and Ed Wylde and all the

          5  good people back at Local 100.

          6                 Okay, so we have the next panel. We

          7  are the Committee on Environmental Protection, and

          8  what we're hearing of the Committee on Environmental

          9  Protection be without hearing from the environmental

         10  community, so our next great distinguished panel of

         11  folks from the environmental community, consist of

         12  Swati Prakash of WE ACT; Adam Gitlin of

         13  Environmental Defense; Craig Wilson of the American

         14  Lung Association; Christina Hemphill of the New York

         15  City Environmental Justice Alliance; and Jason

         16  Babbie or NYPIRG.

         17                 And while the panel is getting itself

         18  settled, I just have to step out of the room for one

         19  minute, and no longer than one minute. I'll be right

         20  back.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: On

         22  behalf of Chair Gennaro, who is just away for a

         23  moment, I'm going to continue the hearing and

         24  welcome this panel. And as is our practice, Counsel

         25  will swear in the panel before us and begin.
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          2                 Take your places, everyone.

          3                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

          4  right hand.

          5                 In the testimony that you're about to

          6  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

          7  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MR. PRAKASH: I do.

          9                 MR. GITLIN: I do.

         10                 MS. HEMPHILL: I do.

         11                 MR. BABBI: I do.

         12                 MR. WILSON: I do.

         13                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That

         15  wasn't hard. Okay, now that we know everyone is

         16  going to be truthful, we welcome the testimony,

         17  whatever order.

         18                 Who would like to begin? Please

         19  introduce yourself as you begin.

         20                 MR. BABBIE: Good afternoon. My name

         21  is Jason Babbie, I'm the Environmental Policy

         22  Analyst for the New York Public Interest Research

         23  Group, NYPIRG. The Statewide Environmental Consumer

         24  Rights Organization.

         25                 I'd like to thank the Chairman and
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          2  the Committee for the opportunity to testify here

          3  today on a number of bills. Intro. 378, 560, 587 and

          4  606, dealing with idling vehicles.

          5                 I won't go into the details of the

          6  length of the statement because it's been a long

          7  day. I sort of want to put out a couple of points.

          8  Obviously when we're talking about diesel emissions

          9  and idling trucks, we're talking about a toxic soup

         10  being emitted into our air and our lungs, with

         11  particulate matter and nitrogen oxide, sulfur

         12  dioxide, carbon monoxide, and among the particulate

         13  matter we're talking about carcinogens, as well as

         14  respiratory irritants.

         15                 Of course, certain populations are

         16  more at risk than others, such as children and the

         17  elderly and those with asthma or cardiopulmonary

         18  disease and other lung diseases.

         19                 Obviously, if we can decrease where

         20  vehicles are idling and increase the enforcement

         21  provisions for idling vehicles, we are all made to

         22  benefit. Sort of a saying, idle hands are the

         23  devil's workshop, and that may be the case but it's

         24  definitely true that idling vehicles are a nightmare

         25  for respiratory systems.
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          2                 I just want to clear up I think one

          3  point I think that was in Intro 606. There's been I

          4  think some confusion about the 40 degree idling

          5  language, and I believe that the ECB interprets

          6  that, that above 40 degrees there is to be zero

          7  idling, meaning no minutes to idling, but below 40

          8  degrees, the three-minute rule applies. So, it isn't

          9  a past, while it may be vaguely worded language a

         10  little bit, you know, and I can get the

         11  Environmental Control Board to clarify that point

         12  with you, but that is my interpretation.

         13                 And I think with that said, I'll pass

         14  it on to other members of the board.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: As I

         16  relinquish the Chair to Chair Gennaro, I want to say

         17  one thing, that was amongst the pippiest and

         18  briefest testimony I've heard in a long time. You

         19  should be invited back.

         20                 Thank you, Chair Gennaro.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         22  Council Member DeBlasio.

         23                 And thank you, Jason. Thank you for

         24  your testimony.

         25                 Craig, I've got you. Okay, I just
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          2  want to say it was a proud moment to stand with you

          3  this morning, Craig, with the Speaker's Asthma Task

          4  Force.  I wish to thank you and the American Lung

          5  Association for all that you do on behalf of

          6  fighting asthma and all the wonderful things that

          7  the American Lung Association does. I lost my mother

          8  to lung disease last year and my father-in-law is

          9  fighting it now, as well, so I have a whole new

         10  appreciation for people who dedicate their lives to

         11  making sure people have healthy lungs. So, thank you

         12  and God bless you, and please proceed with your good

         13  testimony.

         14                 MR. WILSON: First, thank you. You're

         15  certainly welcome for our efforts, and we're proud

         16  to be leading the effort here, or one of the groups

         17  leading the effort in the City to fight air

         18  pollution.

         19                 I apologize in advance, my testimony

         20  is probably not as short as the Councilman would

         21  like, but here we go.

         22                 On behalf of the Association I'm

         23  pleased to be here today about the health impacts of

         24  idling and in particular, the idling of diesel

         25  trucks and buses.
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          2                 New Yorkers are exposed to some of

          3  the most unhealthful air pollution levels in

          4  country.

          5                 In fact, for the fourth year in a row

          6  the American Lung Association State of the Air

          7  Report found that every borough monitored for ozone,

          8  and the surrounding counties in Connecticut, Long

          9  Island and New Jersey - failed the clean air test.

         10                 According to this report, the ozone

         11  monitor at Susan Wagner High School on Staten

         12  Island, consistently has the most number of days

         13  where ozone is above federal health standards out of

         14  any county in the state.

         15                 The transportation section

         16  contributes to ground level ozone, a main component

         17  in summer smog. Diesel engines contribute to this

         18  pollutant and are a primary source of fine

         19  particulates in our air.

         20                 Fine particulates and ozone have both

         21  been linked to a host of health impacts, including

         22  shortness of breath, wheezing, asthma and heart

         23  attacks, strokes, premature death and lung cancer.

         24                 We know that diesel exhaust contains

         25  more than 40 different toxic chemicals, many of
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          2  which are known to be carcinogenic. USEPA has in

          3  fact listed diesel exhaust particle as a likely

          4  human carcinogen. In short, diesel exhaust is just

          5  as bad as it looks and smells and these pollutants

          6  pose a serious threat to the health of City

          7  residents.

          8                 Recognizing this threat to public

          9  health, the American Lung Association of the City of

         10  New York applauds the City Council for bringing

         11  forward several pieces of anti-idling legislation

         12  today. In nearly every case, idling unnecessarily

         13  exposes pedestrians to harmful pollutants. More

         14  disturbing, idling trucks and buses often park near

         15  air ventilation intake and as a result expose

         16  building occupants to roadside emissions. This

         17  problem is especially disturbing in the school

         18  setting, as buses often idle in front of schools

         19  while waiting to pick up the children.

         20                 Seeing the unnecessary and harmful

         21  pollution that idling trucks and buses were emitting

         22  throughout the City, the New York State Attorney

         23  General began an aggressive anti-idling initiative.

         24  Settlements reached through the Attorney General's

         25  work required corporations to educate their
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          2  employees about the three-minute idling law and pay

          3  significant fines for their violations.

          4                 Today, as a direct result of the

          5  Attorney General's efforts, idling has been reduced

          6  throughout the City, but unfortunately much work

          7  needs to be done. I have attached the Attorney

          8  General's press release and a brochure that we

          9  jointly released with him regarding this issue so

         10  the Council may have more information on the matter.

         11                 If properly implemented, the

         12  legislation before the Council today has the

         13  potential to achieve significant reductions

         14  throughout the City. The increased anti-idling

         15  signage as called for by Intro. 587, if placed

         16  across the City as ubiquitously as No Parking signs,

         17  will go a long way towards educating the public of

         18  the existing anti-idling laws. In order to improve

         19  the effectiveness of these signs, the American Lung

         20  Association recommends that information to report

         21  violators be included on the signs. For example,

         22  signs may read "Report Violators to 311."

         23                 Following the educational component

         24  of Intro. 587, the expanded agency enforcement

         25  offered by Intro 606 is critical. Without proper
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          2  enforcement, it is very unlikely that drivers will

          3  adhere to the anti-idling regulations that have been

          4  on the books for many years.

          5                 Additionally, each City agency

          6  granted the authority to enforce the City's

          7  anti-idling laws must educate their officers, and we

          8  encourage the City Council to incorporate a

          9  provision of this nature into the legislation.

         10                 Moreover, we are pleased to see the

         11  City Council closing the idling loophole for

         12  emergency vehicles through Intro. 560. These

         13  vehicles are intended to ensure our safety and it is

         14  illogical to allow them to unnecessarily harm our

         15  health when operating in non-emergency situations.

         16                 Lastly, we commend the City Council

         17  for introducing 378 to completely ban idling for

         18  commercial vehicles. If passed, this legislation

         19  would set the benchmark for all other cities and

         20  states to look towards. In the majority of

         21  instances, there is absolutely no reason for any

         22  vehicle to idle, and we are pleased the Council is

         23  working towards a complete ban.

         24                 New York City is in the middle of an

         25  asthma epidemic and the mere act of breathing can
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          2  put the one million asthmatics, 300,000 of whom are

          3  children, at risk for severe health complications.

          4  In some neighborhoods, such as Harlem, surveys have

          5  found that nearly 25 percent of children are living

          6  with this debilitating lung disease. This City is

          7  not breathing easy.

          8                 Today we have an opportunity to

          9  improve the health of all New Yorkers by improving

         10  the air quality in New York City and beyond.

         11  Recognizing the health benefits of the legislation

         12  before the Council today, the American Lung

         13  Association of the City of New York is pleased to

         14  offer our full support for all four pieces of

         15  legislation, and we encourage the Council to act

         16  swiftly to pass these bills so that we all can begin

         17  to breathe a bit easier.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         20  you, Craig. I appreciate that. Thanks for your good

         21  testimony.

         22                 Ms. Hemphill, how are you doing?

         23                 MS. HEMPHILL: I have two microphones.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         25                 MS. HEMPHILL: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Do you have a

          3  written statement?

          4                 MS. HEMPHILL: No, I do not have a

          5  written statement. So if you want to know how long

          6  or short it's going to be, it's going to be pretty

          7  short.

          8                 My name is Christina Hemphill. I'm

          9  the Transportation Justice Coordinator for the New

         10  York City Environmental Justice Alliance. We're a

         11  coalition of 15 community groups based all over the

         12  boroughs of New York City in low-income and minority

         13  neighborhoods.

         14                 First, I'd just like to say that one

         15  of my colleagues, Timothy Logan, was at the Asthma

         16  Task Force Meeting this morning. He talked about

         17  prevention, and we definitely see that improving air

         18  quality through reducing idling is a major part of

         19  reducing air pollution, reducing cases of asthma,

         20  and is very much a preventative measure.

         21                 And we're very happy to see these

         22  proposals for increasing the fines and restrictions

         23  and also signage and especially enforcements,

         24  because we see that we need to have legislation.

         25  There have been other legislation before, but there
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          2  have not been quite enforcement, so we need to have

          3  legislation and enforcement, in order to actually

          4  make sure that companies adhere to the restrictions.

          5  And I think it would also aid to having companies be

          6  proactive, such as using electrification that

          7  they're talking about in Hunts Point, and as far as

          8  using maybe the bus warmers that they are not

          9  currently using with the New York City Transit,

         10  because if they have to comply with these

         11  legislations then they will use proactive measures,

         12  such as that, that will reduce the idling but still

         13  keep everything running and keep everyone

         14  comfortable when they're using transit.

         15                 And with regards to the bills 378,

         16  560 and 587, we have some suggestions that we think

         17  would help strengthen the bills.

         18                 We see that it says for buses that

         19  they apply to buses at the terminals whether inside

         20  or outside and along established routes.

         21                 We really think that that needs to be

         22  outside of established routes as well, because there

         23  are many times, especially in the South Bronx and in

         24  Upper Manhattan where there are buses idling that

         25  are off of established routes. So we want to make
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          2  sure that we're covering all our bases, and that if

          3  they're around the corner from the terminal, and

          4  it's not the routes, that they still have to comply.

          5                 And also, as was talked about, there

          6  needs to be more enforcements. We're happy to see

          7  that there's going to be more agencies that can

          8  contribute to enforcing, and we also need to have

          9  actually more trained people and individuals who are

         10  designated to give do that enforcement.

         11                 And in the bill 606, we see that

         12  there is a community component, having community

         13  members be able to file complaints, and we're really

         14  excited to see that because we want to see agencies

         15  and communities working together.

         16                 However, it says that the community

         17  members, in order to file a complaint, they need to

         18  be certified by being a smoke watcher, which is

         19  actually something that's new to me, and if it's

         20  necessary for that to be able to apply to community

         21  members in order to file a complaint, we think that

         22  that should definitely be an option known to the

         23  community, given out to community groups about what

         24  you have to do in order to get that training, and

         25  have it be free or very low cost, so that community
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          2  groups can have people actually training so their

          3  complaints will actually have some weight. And, so,

          4  that's basically the suggestions that we have, and

          5  if you have any questions, and we look forward to

          6  hopefully working with the City Council and with the

          7  agencies in the future to reduce idling.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

          9  much. Thank you very much, Christina, for being

         10  here.

         11                 Certainly Donna DeCostanzo, the

         12  Counsel to the Committee, jotted down your

         13  recommendation that you had regarding the one bill,

         14  and please feel free to stay in contact with us as

         15  we go along.

         16                 I'm going to have everyone do their

         17  statement and I might have some questions for all of

         18  you once you finish your statements.

         19                 Adam, right? Okay.

         20                 MR. GITLIN: Good afternoon, and thank

         21  you for the opportunity to testify today.

         22                 My name is Adam Gitlin, I'm a

         23  Research Fellow in the Living Cities Program,

         24  Environmental Defense. Environmental Defense is a

         25  national non-profit environmental organization
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          2  headquartered in New York City with 300,000 members

          3  around the country and over 50,000 members and

          4  activists in New York.

          5                 The Living Cities Program,

          6  Environmental Defense, focuses specifically on

          7  securing clean air, water and lands in highly

          8  developed urban environments.

          9                 As previous members of this panel

         10  already mentioned, diesel exhaust is a proven and

         11  dangerous air contaminant, has high levels of fine

         12  particulate matter, which lodge deep inside the

         13  lung, oxides of nitrogen which are responsible for

         14  smog formation and many other pollutants.

         15                 It's therefore increasingly

         16  implicated in the City's asthma epidemic, which

         17  Craig got into more detail on, and it contains

         18  nearly 40 cancer-causing agents.

         19                 Simple steps, like enforcing

         20  anti-idling laws and losing clean fuels, like ultra

         21  low sulfur diesel, along with best available

         22  retrofit technologies, can cut diesel emissions up

         23  to 90 percent, and we support this legislation as a

         24  simple and cost effective step toward this goal.

         25                 As has been stated in previous
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          2  testimony, the signs linking diesel to poor health

          3  is increasingly powerful, and the solutions seem to

          4  be coming increasingly simple.

          5                 Even the last few years new studies

          6  have solidified our understanding of the dangerous

          7  impact of diesel exhaust and also the mechanism by

          8  which it affects human health and removes any doubt

          9  that action is needed. Elements of diesel exhaust

         10  cause many briefing problems and have been connected

         11  with lung diseases and even lung cancer, affects are

         12  worse for diabetics and people with asthma, and

         13  children feel the effects of diesel exhaust worst of

         14  all.

         15                 Also, in copies of my testimony is

         16  attached a sort of brief bibliography containing all

         17  of the peer reviewed studies that sometimes when we

         18  get into a lot of advocacy, we forget the actual

         19  scientists who are doing the research on the ground

         20  and it's important to remember them I feel.

         21                 Organizations like NYOSH and the EPA

         22  have already determined that diesel exhaust is a

         23  probable or likely human carcinogen, and the

         24  California EPA has classified it as a known human

         25  carcinogen.
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          2                 In addition, diesel exhaust contains

          3  over 40 different toxic chemicals, many of which are

          4  known and suspected to cause cancer, like benzene 1,

          5  3-butazine and polycyclicaromatic hydrocarbons,

          6  otherwise known as PHs.

          7                 The harm from diesel exhaust can be

          8  mitigated in several ways. First, Environmental

          9  Defense would like to reiterate our strong support

         10  for Intro. 191-A, the proposed City Council

         11  legislation that would require use of ultra low

         12  sulfur diesel fuel, and best available retrofit

         13  technology and City construction contract.

         14                 As you know, using diesel fuel that

         15  is low in sulfur cannot only reduce particulates on

         16  its own, but perhaps more significantly enables the

         17  application of aggressive pollution control

         18  technologies that reduce emission particulates,

         19  nitrogen oxides and other pollutants, such as

         20  elemental carbon, carbon monoxide and hydrocarbons.

         21                 Retrofitting existing vehicles with a

         22  wide variety of already available filters can

         23  drastically reduce the emissions of these same

         24  pollutants.

         25                 Additionally, one of the most
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          2  important ways to reduce diesel exhaust right now is

          3  to reduce vehicle idling.

          4                 When trucks and cars idle they

          5  produce far more volatile organic compounds,

          6  nitrogen oxide, and carbon monoxide than they would

          7  while moving in traffic. Trucks also emit more

          8  particulate matter when idling and so do buses, and

          9  we strongly support any work the City Council will

         10  do to facilitate the work that Local 100 was

         11  discussing at the 100th Street Terminal, there's

         12  been at least one medical study that I'm aware of

         13  that was conducted by some researchers at the school

         14  public health in Columbia in Harlem that

         15  specifically identified bus depots as sites where

         16  diesel exhaust is probably going to be where a

         17  switch is obviously intuitive, but it's nice to know

         18  that it's being scientifically confirmed as well.

         19                 Environmental Defense supports the

         20  anti-idling laws being considered by the Committee,

         21  particularly Intro. No. 378, since diesel-operated

         22  trucks comprise a large proportion of commercial

         23  motor vehicles, as they're defined in Section 509-P

         24  of the vehicle and traffic law.

         25                 Intro. 606, because of the emphasis
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          2  on the applicability of anti-idling laws to truck,

          3  and 587 which we believe will, through notification,

          4  raise public awareness of the need to reduce idling

          5  and the City's commitment thereto.

          6                 Enforcing idling laws immediately is

          7  one of the first important steps towards mitigating

          8  diesel emissions. We urge the Council to support

          9  Intro. 191-A.

         10                 Thank you for your time and

         11  attention. We appreciate the work the Council is

         12  doing to keep New York's air clean.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         14  you very much. I appreciate you being here.

         15                 MR. GITLIN: Of course any questions

         16  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, sure.

         18                 MR. GITLIN: Oh, we'll wait. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Ms. Prakash,

         21  right?

         22                 MS. PRAKASH: Thank you, Councilman.

         23                 My name is Swati Prakash. I'm the

         24  Environmental Health Director for West Harlem

         25  Environmental Action, or WE ACT, which is a
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          2  15-year-old environmental justice organization based

          3  in Harlem, which has been working on many issues

          4  related to air pollution and diesel exhaust for over

          5  a decade now, and we're very proud to be working now

          6  with the Transit Workers Union, the Transport

          7  Workers Union, on many of the issues created by the

          8  presence of so many New York City Transit bus depots

          9  in residential communities in Northern Manhattan.

         10                 If I could ask the indulgence of the

         11  Committee for a minute to as to read an excerpt from

         12  a testimony from a resident that we work with who

         13  lives across the street from the 126th Street bus

         14  depot who could not be here today. I'm just going to

         15  read very quickly, and you have a copy of this as

         16  well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me see what

         18  I have. I have your statement.

         19                 MS. PRAKASH: Her name is Shelia

         20  Hester. So now I'm Shelia Hester.

         21                 My name is Shelia Hester. I reside on

         22  126th Street, directly across the street from the

         23  New York City Transit 126th Street bus depot. My son

         24  and I are asthmatics. On a daily basis I observe

         25  buses in violation of the city and state idling
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          2  laws. There are seven residential buildings and four

          3  businesses on 126th Street between First and Second

          4  Avenue.

          5                 The diesel exhaust emitted from buses

          6  is a potent asthma trigger, as well as contributing

          7  to and causing respiratory complications and lung

          8  cancer.

          9                 East Harlem has one of the highest

         10  asthma hospitalization rates among children in the

         11  State of New York. At the end of the bus operator's

         12  tour, seven days a week, the buses are aligned from

         13  126th Street on First Avenue, under the FDR Drive,

         14  south to 120th Street. Idling for hours, awaiting a

         15  signal on the rear exterior wall of the depot to

         16  enter the depot for monies to be removed, buses

         17  cleaned and parked until their tour begins the

         18  following day.

         19                 In the winter months the older

         20  40-foot buses are idling for up to four hours to

         21  warm up to be operational for the morning tour.

         22                 The 126th Street depot has a larger

         23  fleet this year due to added routes from the closing

         24  of other depots during the summer.

         25                 The residents of 126th Street and
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          2  surrounding communities are literally breathing at

          3  our own risk. The present idling laws are not being

          4  adhered to or enforced by any City or State agency.

          5                 The present laws are confusing -- I'm

          6  skipping down. The public should be aware of the

          7  complete laws, what type of vehicles are included or

          8  exempt, which City or State agencies are to enforce

          9  said laws and the consequences of violations of the

         10  proposed laws.

         11                 Signs should be posted similar to the

         12  parking signs. Agencies that continually violate the

         13  idling laws, as the New York City Transit, MTA,

         14  continues to do, a fine increase for each violation

         15  should be imposed. For all buses that are housed and

         16  operated on residential city streets, the engines

         17  should be converted to natural gas as the buses in

         18  Long Island operate. Hybrid buses are an alternative

         19  also.

         20                 And that's from Shelia Hester. And

         21  just to come back to my own testimony, I'm going to

         22  leave out much of what is written down here, except

         23  to say, point out, that I did include a copy of a

         24  recent study by the University of California of Los

         25  Angeles, which suggests that diesel exhaust alone
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          2  can cause asthma attacks, which is contrary to or in

          3  addition to what we talked about to this point,

          4  which is that diesel exhaust has to be accompanied

          5  by some sort of allergin in order to trigger asthma

          6  attacks.

          7                 Communities of color in New York have

          8  some of the highest rates of asthma in the nation,

          9  excuse me, of childhood asthma prevalence and

         10  hospitalization for asthma attacks, and communities

         11  of color throughout New York City are also home to a

         12  disproportionate burden of facilities, such as bus

         13  and truck garages, depots, terminals and parking

         14  lots that track an unusually large number of idling

         15  diesel fueled vehicles.

         16                 Press coverage over the years at many

         17  of New York City Transit bus depots indicates that

         18  these buses, many of which are not even parked

         19  indoors overnight, but are actually parked outdoors

         20  in lots or on the street, are a consistent source of

         21  idling violations, and I want to emphasize that it's

         22  really the agency that needs to be considered

         23  responsible rather than individual drivers for these

         24  idling violations, because there are systemic

         25  underlying reasons for why drivers idle most of the
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          2  time and it's above and beyond, it has nothing to do

          3  with individual neglect or malfeasance, but really

          4  forced -- or something that they have no other

          5  options.

          6                 For example, the climate control

          7  system on most buses is powered solely by the bus

          8  engines, which means that the drivers can't run air

          9  conditioning or heating systems unless the engine

         10  itself is running.

         11                 The MTA and other diesel vehicle

         12  fleet owners should and can be looking into

         13  technologies to enable alternative sources of

         14  powering the climate control system while the bus is

         15  warming in the morning, other than having to turn on

         16  the engine.

         17                 You also heard the representative

         18  from the union mention earlier one of the most

         19  significant causes of idling of diesel fueled

         20  vehicles is the need for older diesel buses, and

         21  really all diesel garbage trucks to run almost

         22  constantly during cold weather months, in order to

         23  prevent the diesel fuel from clogging in the lines

         24  of the engine.

         25                 This unfortunate technological
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          2  constraint, which is one of the many technological

          3  imitations of diesel engines, compounded by the

          4  regrettably poor location of diesel bus and garbage

          5  truck depots, in terminals and residential

          6  communities, results in significant and severe

          7  emissions of diesel exhaust in those communities

          8  each and every day, all winter long.

          9                 One option again is to explore the

         10  engine warming systems that were referenced earlier

         11  so that engines don't need to idle four hours every

         12  morning when it's cold outside.

         13                 But idling for the need to warm up

         14  just is not restricted to the winter months. For

         15  example, the New York City Department of Sanitation

         16  currently has an outdoor parking, garbage truck

         17  parking lot on 99th Street and First Avenue, where

         18  it's the homes of roughly 20 garbage trucks, it's

         19  located directly behind an apartment building and

         20  across the street from Junior High School 99 and

         21  Metropolitan Hospital.

         22                 The trucks are parked roughly 20 feet

         23  from the home of Ms. Attie Jones, who is the mother

         24  of a three-year-old. She lives right next to the

         25  depot, and she comments on how the trucks often
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          2  begin idling as early as five in the morning, no

          3  matter what the season is, and that during the

          4  winter the drivers start and turn off the truck

          5  engines several times all night long to prevent the

          6  fuel from clogging, and the drivers also tend to rev

          7  their engines at all hours of the morning,

          8  compounding the emissions caused by idling.

          9                 This creates an intolerable source of

         10  noise and air pollution that makes it difficult for

         11  all residents and especially the children trying to

         12  sleep and breathe in that community. And the

         13  provisions in Intro. 606 to allow citizens like Ms.

         14  Jones to register complaints against these

         15  sanitation trucks which at this moment she cannot

         16  register a complaint against, I guess the Department

         17  of Sanitation trucks to bring, to reduce the impact

         18  of some of these vehicles.

         19                 And then on a last note I just want

         20  to add that it's been mentioned that perhaps the

         21  solution is to move buses and trucks indoors, so

         22  that if they're idling we don't see them, or they

         23  won't be venting directly into the ambient air, and

         24  even that, unless those depots are heated, will not

         25  necessarily resolve the problem because during the
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          2  winter again the buses will be running and at least

          3  the New York City Transit, the air is exhausted

          4  currently from the building structures, it's

          5  exhausted from the building directly into the

          6  community without any additional filtration system

          7  on the bus depots themselves.

          8                 So, just in closing I want to

          9  reinforce the need as well to ensure enforcement.

         10                 The proposed resolutions are an

         11  important means of strengthening the laws that are

         12  already on the books. It's the case that the Police

         13  Department and other City departments that would be

         14  empowered to enforce these rules at times are

         15  reluctant to issue tickets to other City departments

         16  or to New York City Transit. And, so, I urge the

         17  Council to do everything in its power to sit down

         18  with these departments and discuss the need to

         19  really vigorously enforce the laws that are on the

         20  books. And that is all.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         23  you very much, Ms. Prakash. I think the first thing

         24  I'm going to do is I'm going to send a copy of your

         25  statement over to the Commissioner of the Department
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          2  of Sanitation, if you don't mind?

          3                 MS. PRAKASH: That would be helpful.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You know, we had

          5  DEP here and they're talking about their actions,

          6  but they want to come to, you know, City agencies,

          7  forcing against other City agencies, you know how

          8  that is. And, so, you know, I'm not looking for

          9  money from City agencies, I'm looking for

         10  compliance. And you know, just as we sit here and

         11  postulate how we can bring agencies like DOT and

         12  Parks, you know, agencies like, pardon me, DOS and

         13  Parks into, you were giving out summonses for idling

         14  laws, violations, to make sure that their own shops

         15  are being as compliant as possible, and this is,

         16  your testimony is a very good witness to a situation

         17  that has to be improved, and we thank you for that.

         18  And all of this panel, I thank you so much for your

         19  advocacy on this issue, for your interest in it, and

         20  I urge you to continue to stay close to us on this

         21  issue. We have Counsel to the Committee Donna

         22  DeCostanzo, whom you all know, Policy Analyst Rich

         23  Colon, and any thoughts or ideas you may have that

         24  could help us get to the goal line, I'd be more than

         25  happy to hear from you, as always. So, thank you all
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          2  very much, and we appreciate the opportunity to have

          3  you here with us.

          4                 Any last thoughts from anyone? Thank

          5  you so much, I appreciate it.

          6                 MR. BABBIE: Thank you.

          7                 MS. PRAKASH: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, the next

          9  panel. We have Mr. Clyde Hart, from the American Bus

         10  Association. We'll have a panel of various people

         11  who are going to speak on behalf of the bus

         12  industry.

         13                 Clyde Hart of the American Bus

         14  Association; Stan, it looks like Brettschneider of

         15  the Bus Association of New York; William Agathis, of

         16  Gray Line New York Tours and William McVeigh, of the

         17  Bus Contractors Coalition.

         18                 To be followed by, the panel after

         19  this will be David Janua, and Stephen Epstein. Thank

         20  you.

         21                 Thank you, gentlemen. Thank you for

         22  being with us here today. Thank you for your

         23  patience. Thank you for your patience.

         24                 Counsel to the Committee will swear

         25  you in, then we can proceed.
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          2                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

          3  right hand.

          4                 In the testimony you're about to

          5  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

          6  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          7                 MR. HART: I do.

          8                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: I do.

          9                 MR. AGATHIS: I do.

         10                 MR. McVEIGH: I do.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you all

         12  very much. And I guess whatever order you are

         13  prepared to go in, you can set it up for yourselves.

         14                 I will just ask, before you commence

         15  reading the testimony, just if you state your name

         16  for the record and proceed with your testimony.

         17                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Mr. Chairman and

         18  members of the Committee, good afternoon. My name is

         19  Stan Brettschneider, I appear before you today to

         20  give testimony in connection with a series of

         21  Council intros that pertain to bus idling issues.

         22                 I will be commenting on the subject

         23  due to the potential impact that the pending

         24  legislation will have on an industry which I serve

         25  in two capacities.
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          2                 My primary responsibility is

          3  president of Green Bus Lines of Queens New York, and

          4  Vice President of Command Bus Company of Brooklyn,

          5  and my second role as president of the Bus

          6  Association of the State of New York.

          7                 Green Bus Lines and Command Bus

          8  Company are two of the private seven bus lines that

          9  operate local and express bus service under the

         10  jurisdiction of the New York City Department of

         11  Transportation.

         12                 The seven New York City private bus

         13  companies comprise over 1,100 buses and carry in

         14  excess of 400,000 passengers daily.

         15                 Combined, these private bus lines

         16  represent the ninth largest bus system in the United

         17  States, carrying more passengers on a daily basis

         18  than the Long Island Railroad and MetroNorth.

         19                 The Bus Association of the State of

         20  New York has been in existence since 1935 for the

         21  purpose of representing and promoting the interest

         22  of the private bus operators who provide local

         23  transit, commuter routes, regional, intercity

         24  charter and tour services in our state.

         25                 This association is currently
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          2  composed of 42 bus companies operating over 4,000

          3  buses with service in all 58 counties of New York

          4  State.

          5                 These companies represent line and

          6  charter operators and transport over 200 million

          7  passengers a year within New York City and service

          8  from as far west as Buffalo, north from Plattsburgh

          9  and East from Montauk.

         10                 Our association's largest mass

         11  transit service bases within the City provided by

         12  what is referred to as the Transit Operator from New

         13  York - command Bus, Green Bus Lines, Jamaica Buses,

         14  Liberty Lines, New York Bus, Queens Surface and

         15  Triborough Coach Corporation.

         16                 We consider this association a very

         17  important part of the New York City Transportation

         18  Network as it plays an essential and integral role

         19  in our City's economic growth and development.

         20                 Hundreds of millions of dollars of

         21  revenue derived by business, entertainment, leisure

         22  activities and local government through taxes comes

         23  as a result of the private bus operators of the

         24  State serving our City.

         25                 It is important not to lose sight of
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          2  the operating concerns of the bus companies when

          3  formulating legislation that could adversely affect

          4  their ability to serve the public.

          5                 It is because of my two roles that I

          6  am presenting my concerns regarding the

          7  ramifications of Intro 378 and 587 on existing

          8  idling restrictions.

          9                 In spite of this statement, I would

         10  like to express the commitment I have made at the

         11  bus companies I manage to maintain a strong

         12  environmental consciousness in all facets of our bus

         13  operations.

         14                 In 1988, Command Bus Company, in a

         15  joint venture with Brooklyn Union Gas, now KeySpan,

         16  began operating the first two compressed natural gas

         17  buses in this country.

         18                 These buses were built specifically

         19  for the purpose of determining the feasibility and

         20  practicality of CNG as a viable alternative to

         21  diesel fuel.

         22                 The positive results of that

         23  initiative is seen today with over 300 CNG buses

         24  operated by three of the seven private bus lines in

         25  New York City and thousands of CNG buses operating
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          2  nationally.

          3                 Our companies were involved in other

          4  alternate fuel initiatives, including the early

          5  development with buses fueled with methanol, the

          6  testing of particular traps, and components to

          7  reduce diesel fuel emissions, as well as the

          8  utilization of low sulfur diesel fuel.

          9                 The Bus Association and my companies

         10  are proud of our continuous efforts to introduce new

         11  technology and institute operating procedures to

         12  maximize bus operations impact on the environment.

         13                 Drawing our attention to the proposed

         14  amendments, I have been asking this Committee to

         15  clarify for our members that the bus industry is not

         16  the intended target of Intro. 378, which specifies

         17  excessive idling by commercial motor vehicle and

         18  thereby not identifying our industry for inclusion

         19  in this Intro.

         20                 Bus operators hope to avoid that

         21  potential use of this proposal as the forerunner to

         22  future restrictions on buses.

         23                 We also want to prevent any ambiguity

         24  that may develop in the enforcement of this section

         25  by any governmental official or agency, should this
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          2  proposed change be approved by your Committee.

          3                 Our companies are also concerned with

          4  Intro 587. At the present time there is a range of

          5  fines for idling violations from $220 to $175 per

          6  occurrence.

          7                 While this has been a costly law for

          8  many of our members, the new proposed rates make it

          9  even worse. And Intro. 587, the range of fines will

         10  rise to a minimum of $750 and a maximum of $1,500.

         11                 This new fine structure will be even

         12  more damaging to our industry and cause financial

         13  burden to our association's members, since the fines

         14  and penalties are the responsibility of the company.

         15                 The decision by law enforcement to

         16  issue summons is sometimes made on a subjective

         17  basis. Many of our drivers who receive summonses

         18  were often in compliance with the law but were cited

         19  based on conflicting accounts of the events and

         20  timelines associated with the three-minute idling

         21  law.

         22                 It is very difficult to load and

         23  unload a large bus of passengers, obtain comfortable

         24  temperatures inside the bus while adhering to the

         25  three-minute idling regulation.
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          2                 One might respond that the summonses

          3  can be challenged but time and expenses associated

          4  with the process far exceed the fine that is levied.

          5                 As a result of this new fine

          6  schedule, please consider the fact that many of our

          7  Charter and inter-city operators may be discouraged

          8  from sending their buses to New York which would

          9  have a greater economic impact on the City than the

         10  additional revenue it will gain in fine collection.

         11                 I am acutely aware of the City's

         12  financial problems but we should not use the program

         13  to try to raise new dollars from an industry facing

         14  continuous increases in its day-to-day operating

         15  costs and decreases in its revenue because of the

         16  national economic downturn that continues to affect

         17  the travel and tourism center.

         18                 Please do not adopt Intro. 587. The

         19  current level of fines is more than enough to

         20  discourage idling. Continuous training programs that

         21  the bus companies provide to their employees so they

         22  can better understand how to meet environmental

         23  requirements, have been helpful in reducing

         24  violations.

         25                 In conclusion, it is important for
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          2  this Committee to reevaluate and clarify the intros

          3  I referenced. At an opportune time I would also

          4  request that the Committee on Environmental

          5  Protection meet with representatives of the bus

          6  industry to discuss the no idling versus the

          7  unnecessary idling concept.

          8                 The no idling laws should be reviewed

          9  and restated, take into account the necessity of

         10  idling buses, beyond the three-minute limitation so

         11  that the operators can perform the service that they

         12  are contracted, franchised or obligated to perform

         13  for the public in a safe, responsible and

         14  conscientious manner.

         15                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         16  appear before the Committee this afternoon.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         18  you very much for being here. I'll save my remarks

         19  or comments until we hear from the whole panel. And

         20  whoever wishes to go next.

         21                 MR. McVEIGH: Good afternoon, and

         22  thank you for the opportunity to give testimony.

         23                 My name is William McVeigh. I am the

         24  Director of Maintenance for the New York City --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I want to make
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          2  sure I have your statement here.

          3                 Okay, I have it. Thank you.

          4                 MR. McVEIGH: Okay. I am the Director

          5  of Maintenance for the New York City operations of

          6  the Atlantic Express Transportation. Atlantic

          7  Express is one of the nation's largest school bus

          8  companies, and provides in excess of 1,200 school

          9  buses a day, on behalf of the New York City

         10  Department of Education, the transportation of

         11  school children in New York City.

         12                 I give this testimony on behalf of

         13  Atlantic, as well as on behalf of other major school

         14  bus operators, including Consolidated Bus, Logan

         15  Bus, Pioneer Bus, New York Bus Service and Varsity

         16  Bus.

         17                 The unnecessarily idling of school

         18  buses results in substantial additional costs to our

         19  companies for fuel and unneeded wear and tear on our

         20  engines. In addition to the environmental

         21  considerations of which we're all aware, school bus

         22  operators have a substantial financial incentive to

         23  prevent and stop unnecessary idling.

         24                 You'll note that I have used the

         25  phrase "unnecessary idling." I emphasis the word

                                                            126

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  "unnecessary" because it is important that the

          3  Committee understand that there are circumstances

          4  which make it necessary to idle a school bus.

          5                 The present regulations and the

          6  proposed amendments to the regulations, fail to take

          7  these circumstances into account.

          8                 Remember, we are not transporting

          9  cattle or machinery. The transportation of young

         10  children is serious business and there are times

         11  when our buses must remain powered to assure the

         12  save and comfortable transportation of our children.

         13                 I will get to those issues in a

         14  moment. But, first, it is also important that you

         15  consider the best way to meet the objective of

         16  curtailing unnecessary idling. There are over 5,000

         17  school bus drivers who transport New York City

         18  school children every day.

         19                 It is the drivers who turn the buses

         20  on and off. We have instructed our drivers not to

         21  idle our vehicles in violation of the City and State

         22  laws, and will continue to do so.

         23                 Any attempt on our part to discipline

         24  our drivers for unnecessary idling requires that we

         25  must first document the incident and go through a
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          2  long disciplinary process in order to comply with

          3  our collective bargaining agreement.

          4                 The process does not instill all of

          5  our drivers with an incentive to strictly follow the

          6  idling laws.

          7                 However, I assure you that a driver

          8  who is ticketed for unlawful idling and is required

          9  to pay a fine for unlawful idling will never do it

         10  again.

         11                 Having said that, there are instances

         12  when the three-minute limitation on idling from

         13  school buses or the proposed elimination of idling

         14  simply do not work, and in some instances the

         15  requirement is counterproductive to safeguarding the

         16  environment.

         17                 For example, the New York State Power

         18  Authority is presently funding a project to retrofit

         19  a certain number of New York City school buses with

         20  a pollution control device known as the "diesel

         21  particulate filter." Starting in 2006, all

         22  diesel-powered vehicles will be required to have

         23  such filters. We are advised that the filters are

         24  extremely effective.

         25                 In fact, the Diesel Retro Workshop,
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          2  held by the USEPA and the Northeast States for

          3  Coordinated Air Use Management, it was claimed that

          4  the air coming out of the diesel particulate filters

          5  was actually cleaner than the air going in.

          6                 The problem is that in order for the

          7  filters to work, diesel engine exhaust must operate

          8  at a temperature of at least 250 degrees. The

          9  manufacturers of the filter, Johnson Mathey,

         10  together with the New York State Power Authority,

         11  confirmed that limitation at a widely attended

         12  meeting of school bus operators on August 13, 2003.

         13                 When the Diesel Particulate Filter

         14  operates below that temperature, the filter simply

         15  does not work.

         16                 For confirmation with respect to the

         17  effectiveness of the filters, we invite you to

         18  contact Jim Hale of Johnson Matthey at

         19  halerj@jmusa.com. Strict adherence to the

         20  three-minute idling law will cause buses waiting to

         21  pick up students at schools to be operated at

         22  exhaust temperatures well under 250 degrees, and

         23  will render the diesel particulate filters useless

         24  precisely at the very location the Council is

         25  seeking to protect.
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          2                 On days when the temperatures fall

          3  below 40 degrees, temperatures inside the bus will

          4  rapidly fall to that level and lower within minutes

          5  after the end of the shut-off.

          6                 Strict adherence to the three-minute

          7  limitation on such days or strict adherence to the

          8  complete no idling provision that is proposed in one

          9  of the pending bills, will result in school children

         10  boarding freezing buses and remaining on a freezing

         11  bus for a period of time until the engine is able to

         12  heat up the inside of the vehicle.

         13                 During weather conditions that

         14  present frost, ice, frost or fog on windows or

         15  windshields of the bus, the bus most certainly will

         16  have to idle for greater than three minutes in order

         17  to build up enough heat to eliminate the

         18  aforementioned conditions.

         19                 Conversely, on those days when the

         20  temperature rises above 70 degrees Fahrenheit,

         21  turning the engine off an air conditioned bus, while

         22  it waits to pick up children at a bus stop or at

         23  school, will result in the interior of the bus

         24  quickly heating up to temperatures well above 80

         25  degrees and will cause the vehicle to remain at such
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          2  elevated temperatures for a period of time until

          3  once again the engine is restarted.

          4                 The strict adherence to the no idling

          5  or the three-minute limitation on idling results in

          6  a direct conflict with Section 19-605 which was just

          7  recently amended by the Council mandating air

          8  conditioned vehicles for the transportation of

          9  certain special education children.

         10                 That provision requires a school bus

         11  to be air conditioned and to make the "internal

         12  climate of such vehicles comfortable to passengers

         13  in order to protect or enhance the health of

         14  children." School buses cannot meet that standard if

         15  their engines remain off when they are waiting to

         16  pick up their special education passengers.

         17                 Our vehicles require the engine to be

         18  operated for a period of time in order for air

         19  pressure to be built up in our braking system. That

         20  time varies from vehicle manufacturer to vehicle

         21  manufacturer and day by day, depending upon the

         22  outside temperature.

         23                 There are many occasions when the

         24  three-minute limitation will not allow sufficient

         25  time for the pressure to build up to safe and
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          2  adequate standards.

          3                 School buses are required by State

          4  law and by our contract with the Department of

          5  Education to maintain and keep in operation many

          6  mechanical items for the safe transportation of our

          7  students.

          8                 These mechanical items include stop

          9  arms, flashing lights, two-way radios, electric

         10  heaters in stairways in order to keep ice and snow

         11  from accumulating on winter days. Our buses are

         12  manufactured in such a way that the batteries will

         13  quickly be drained of all power for the foregoing

         14  operations if the engines are not operational.

         15                 Also, mechanically speaking,

         16  defrosters and heaters derive their heat from the

         17  heat of the diesel engine blocks as the heat from

         18  the running engine is transferred to flowing water.

         19  To be effective in generating that heat, idling of

         20  greater than three minutes is necessary.

         21                 As you may be aware, many of the

         22  school bus companies are presently cooperating with

         23  the New York State Attorney General's Office in

         24  connection with its inquiry of violations of the New

         25  York State and New York City idling regulations.
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          2                 We are in the process of entering

          3  into agreements with the Attorney General concerning

          4  our idling compliance. Through many meetings with

          5  the staff of the Attorney General's Office, we have

          6  reviewed each of the foregoing idling issues in

          7  substantial detail. As a result, the current draft

          8  agreement with bus operators provides for the

          9  following caveat regarding exceptions to the idling

         10  limitations:

         11                 For purposes of this Assurance,

         12  "Non-Covered Idling" means idling to the extent,

         13  but only to the extent the idling is necessary to

         14  comply with the applicable federal or state law and

         15  regulations concerning the operation of a motor

         16  vehicle, build air pressure to the level required to

         17  operate the motor vehicle, and maintain or repair

         18  the motor vehicle, or maintain an interior

         19  temperature of fifty degrees Fahrenheit when the

         20  outside temperature is less than fifty degrees or of

         21  seventy degrees Fahrenheit when the outside

         22  temperature is more than 70 degrees.

         23                 The New York City Regulation should

         24  include a similar provision.

         25                 In conclusions, as school bus
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          2  operators, it is in our own financial interest to

          3  see to it that school bus idling should be limited

          4  to the minimum amount required in order to safely

          5  transport New York City school children. If these

          6  minimum requirements are violated, the drivers who

          7  are responsible for those violations should be

          8  subject to a penalty. However, the no idling law

          9  should be amended to reflect the reality of safely

         10  and comfortably transporting our school children.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         13  you, Mr. McVeigh.

         14                 MR. HART: Mr. Chairman, my name is

         15  Clyde Hart, and I serve as Vice President for

         16  Government Affairs for the American Bus Association.

         17                 On behalf of the Association, I want

         18  to thank you for the opportunity to testify before

         19  you on this issue.

         20                 The American Bus Association is the

         21  trade association for the over-the-road motor coach

         22  industry in North America. It is made up of 3,400

         23  member organizations engaged in transportation in

         24  the tour and travel industry.

         25                 Our membership includes the State of
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          2  New York, the Empire State Building, the Schubert

          3  Theater, and in this area our Motor Coach operators

          4  of which we have 800 include Academy Bus Tours which

          5  provides commuter services to New York City,

          6  Grayhound Bus Lines and Peter Pan Bus Lines which

          7  provide inter-City service, as well as tour bus

          8  companies such as Coach USA, Grayline, and New

          9  York-based companies like Horan Coaches, Campus

         10  Coach and Hampton Jitney.

         11                 The inter-city bus industry just

         12  described is the largest transportation network in

         13  the United States. We provide service to 774 million

         14  passengers each year. This number far exceeds even

         15  the airline industry which transports some 640

         16  million per year, and Amtrak which is used by 23

         17  million passengers each year.

         18                 The economic reach of the industry

         19  can be gauged by the hotels, to its destinations,

         20  and restaurants that are ABA members.

         21                 Indeed, a recent study by the George

         22  Washington University, a copy of which is attached

         23  to my testimony, demonstrates that each motorcoach

         24  load of tourists in New York City spends an average

         25  of $4,500 on meals, attractions, fuel and fees in
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          2  just one day.

          3                 If the same busload stays overnight,

          4  the average amount spent jumps to $11,264.

          5                 We all recognize that New York City

          6  is a prime tourist destination. First, the

          7  motorcoach industry delivers many people to New York

          8  City.

          9                 In addition to the commuters who come

         10  to Port Authority, the visitors who take the bus

         11  from local airports, or those student, senior

         12  citizen groups and special charters who come into

         13  the City by motorcoach, there are millions of

         14  visitors who use motorcoaches every day while in the

         15  five boroughs of New York.

         16                 Despite the large numbers of

         17  residents and guests who use motorcoach services,

         18  New York City has a reputation of being less than

         19  freely to motorcoach operators.

         20                 This reputation has two parts, both

         21  of which are implicated in today's hearings. Those

         22  obstacles to the motorcoach industry are the City's

         23  idling regulations, and the City's lack of bus

         24  parking.

         25                 ABA's concerns with idling is of a
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          2  piece with the lack of bus parking in New York City.

          3  The lack of the latter more than contributes to the

          4  violations of the former.

          5                 Drivers looking to embark or

          6  disembark passengers in some neighborhoods can only

          7  circle the block until finding a place. Upon finding

          8  any place out of traffic, the driver can only pull

          9  over quickly, unload or load and leave.

         10                 The engine is on so that lights and

         11  heat are delivered to the passengers, and also to

         12  work any wheelchair lifts that the bus might

         13  contain.

         14                 Simply put, ABA agrees with the

         15  testimony by the Transport Workers Union that the

         16  motorcoach engine is required to run for the

         17  vehicle's air conditioning and brakes to be

         18  functional.

         19                 A motorcoach needs more than three

         20  minutes to provide air conditioning or heating to

         21  the passengers. Indeed, depending on the severity of

         22  the weather, it can take up to 30 minutes before the

         23  vehicle will provide comfort to its passengers.

         24                 Moreover, as noted above, the

         25  regulation does not take into account the motorcoach
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          2  engine's role in ensure proper brake pressure. The

          3  engine provides the air that powers the brakes.

          4                 Three minutes may be an insufficient

          5  amount of time to ensure that enough air has gone to

          6  the brakes. A driver pulling away from the curb or

          7  terminal after three minutes may not always be sure

          8  that the brakes will function properly when needed

          9  in a potential emergency situation.

         10                 As I stated in my opening, New York

         11  City's lack of bus parking also hinders the

         12  motorcoach industry, and then combined with the

         13  idling regulations, really defeats what ADA

         14  perceives as the purpose of the idling regulation.

         15                 It is a fact that the use of a

         16  motorcoach can take as many cars off the road as if

         17  there are passengers in the bus. This is a wonderful

         18  result for those of us who want less pollution in

         19  the air and less congestion in the streets, but the

         20  lack of bus parking requires motorcoach drivers and

         21  their passengers to wander the streets of the City

         22  in a search for places to safely embark or disembark

         23  the passengers, their personal belongings and

         24  luggage.

         25                 This search only increases the
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          2  emissions put out by the motorcoach, a result that

          3  does nothing for safety, congestion or the City's

          4  air quality.

          5                 ABA's position on the amendments

          6  under consideration follows from our view of the

          7  underlying regulations.

          8                 First, ABA supports Int. No. 560,

          9  which as we take it proposes an exemption from the

         10  idling regulation for emergency service vehicles

         11  responding to an emergency.

         12                 We cannot support Int. 587. Any

         13  increase in penalties for violation of the idling

         14  regulations is unfair and ultimately, as I think I

         15  have shown, self-defeating.

         16                 The lack of bus parking makes it a

         17  virtual certainty that more motorcoaches will be

         18  forced to circle the area until a suitable place for

         19  loading or unloading is found.

         20                 This will be nothing to help the air

         21  pollution or congestion. But it will make it more

         22  likely that the driver will get a ticket for idling

         23  longer than three minutes.

         24                 Lastly, ABA must oppose Int. 606. We

         25  see no rhyme or reason for vesting enforcement
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          2  authority of the idling regulations in no less than

          3  five City agencies, when as been documented here,

          4  the City got somewhere in the neighborhood of 600

          5  complaints in the prior year.

          6                 In conclusion, the ABA, like New York

          7  City, supports tourism. The ABA wishes to work with

          8  the City and with the City Council to find ways to

          9  increase bus parking and to decrease idling by

         10  buses.

         11                 Restrictive idling regulations and

         12  increased fines, however, will not help the City in

         13  its quest for cleaner air, safer streets and lower

         14  congestion.

         15                 New York City should modify its

         16  regulations to allow motorcoach operators latitude

         17  to idle a bus, to ensure the safety, health and

         18  comfort of its passengers, and not just when a

         19  passenger is on the streets.

         20                 ABA asks for your help. ABA asks the

         21  City to join us in urging the federal government to

         22  fund the research and development and testing of new

         23  technologies, like the truck stop electrification

         24  program noted by the EPA regional administrator

         25  earlier today.
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          2                 ABA also asks that you join us in our

          3  idling campaign. In this campaign we seek to educate

          4  the motorcoach history on the benefits of

          5  restricting idling to the public and to the

          6  operator's bottom line. At the same time, ABA wants

          7  to educate the public on the advantages to its

          8  health, safety and comfort by the use of

          9  motorcoaches.

         10                 Again, ABA thanks you for this

         11  opportunity and wants to ensure you of our

         12  continuing efforts, to find adequate bus parking and

         13  to enact fair idling regulations.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Hart.

         17                 Thank you for being here. I

         18  appreciate it.

         19                 MR. AGATHIS: Good afternoon, Chairman

         20  Gennaro and Committee members. My name is William

         21  Agathis and I am counsel for Gray Line New York

         22  Tours. I am appearing today on behalf of Tom Lewis,

         23  the president of Gray Line New York Tours, who is

         24  out of the country, and was out of the country when

         25  he received notification of this hearing.
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          2                 As you may know, Gray Line New York

          3  Tours provides New York City double-decker

          4  sightseeing services in New York City and provides

          5  this service to over one million New York City

          6  tourists annually.

          7                 Initially, I would like to emphasize

          8  to the Committee that Gray Line is committed to

          9  being environmentally conscious and responsible.

         10                 In fact, Gray Line has almost

         11  single-handedly -- in fact, Gray Line has

         12  implemented numerous procedures, including training,

         13  which formerly instruct and require its drivers to

         14  idle buses less than three minutes, to turn buses

         15  off during layovers, and program its compatible

         16  buses so that the bus shuts down if it idles in

         17  neutral gear in excess of three minutes.

         18                 In addition, Gray Line is pursuing

         19  private grants which fund other clean air

         20  initiatives.

         21                 Most significantly, over the past

         22  several years Gray Line has almost single handedly

         23  transformed the double-decker bus industry in New

         24  York City.

         25                 Just two years ago the average
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          2  double-decker bus age was approximately 20 years old

          3  and many of these vehicles had engines that did not

          4  comply with high clean air standards.

          5                 Gray Line, which today is the

          6  predominant double-decker sightseeing bus operator

          7  in New York City, operates a fleet with an average

          8  age of three years.

          9                 Further, the Gray Line fleet is

         10  equipped with the latest clean air engines in

         11  accordance with the current EPA initial

         12  requirements.

         13                 Moreover, Gray Line is voluntarily in

         14  the process of updating 13 older buses, with new

         15  engines with updated clean air standards. This will

         16  bring them up to compliance 100 percent with the

         17  emission standards which have been in effect for the

         18  last ten years or the majority of which have been in

         19  effect for the last three years.

         20                 The two principle issues of concern

         21  that arise from the proposed amendments are as

         22  follows: First, we respectfully seek the addition of

         23  express language that further clarifies that the

         24  amendment set forth in Intro. Number 378, which

         25  contains to commercial motor vehicles does not apply
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          2  to buses.

          3                 The second concern relates to the

          4  proposed increase of the fines associated with

          5  excessive idling.

          6                 The amendment to subsection 24-163-A

          7  as proposed by Intro. No. 378, provides a proposed

          8  subsection 24-163-C which pertains to excessive

          9  idling by commercial motor vehicles applies only to

         10  commercial motor vehicles as defined by motor

         11  vehicle and traffic law Section 509-P.

         12                 Section 509-P defines commercial

         13  motor vehicles as vehicles exceeding 10,000 pounds

         14  utilized to transport goods. However, since the

         15  actual proposed idling regulations do not expressly

         16  state this, but rather refer to this particular

         17  motor vehicle in traffic law section, and since

         18  there are other definitions in the commercial -- of

         19  commercial motor vehicles in the motor vehicle and

         20  traffic law that include buses, this provision may

         21  be easily misconstrued by the public, hearing

         22  officers and law enforcement officials.

         23                 Accordingly, it is respectfully

         24  requested that either the regulation or legislative

         25  intent through a committee report expressly state
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          2  that subsection C, which pertains to commercial

          3  motorvehicles, does not apply to vehicles that

          4  transport passengers.

          5                 Increase in Statutory Penalties for

          6  Excessive Idling. The current penalty for excessive

          7  idling imposes a minimum fine of $220 and a maximum

          8  fine of $875 per infraction.

          9                 Gray Line typically operates 50 buses

         10  throughout the day which are required to stop for

         11  hop-on, hop-off sightseeing service, approximately

         12  40 times per tour, and to be standing while

         13  customers board, disembark and pay for their

         14  tickets. This operation inevitably results in the

         15  issuance of summonses, many of which Gray Line may

         16  not agree with at the time of issuance.

         17                 However, in view of the burden and

         18  expense of attending a hearing with counsel, Gray

         19  Line typically pays such summonses and accepts them

         20  as an inevitable cost of operating its business.

         21                 If the fines were increased to the

         22  amounts proposed by Intro. No. 587, $750 minimum

         23  fine, $1,500 maximum fine, this cost of doing

         24  business would skyrocket and would have a material

         25  financial impact upon Gray Line.

                                                            145

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 Such costs would inevitably be passed

          3  on to its passengers, through increased ticket

          4  prices, and would ultimately be detrimental to New

          5  York City tourism.

          6                 In an industry that has been

          7  attempting to regain its feet since 9/11, this

          8  increased fine would have a detrimental impact on

          9  New York City tourism and would conflict the City's

         10  efforts to revitalize tourism and bring tourists

         11  back to New York City.

         12                 Thank you for this opportunity.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         14  you. How do you say your last name William? Agathis,

         15  am I saying it right?

         16                 MR. AGATHIS: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for

         18  that statement. Thank all of you for your statements

         19  and for your comprehensive testimony.

         20                 During your statement, Mr. Agathis, I

         21  was talking to Counsel to the Committee who

         22  indicates that our intent with Intro. 278 is just

         23  for vehicles that move goods and not people, and to

         24  the extent that we can state that a little better,

         25  we would be happy to do that.
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          2                 We can make it more explicit,

          3  perhaps. Certainly it's not our intent to place more

          4  of a burden on more trucks that move goods and

          5  people, but nonetheless, we have to be very careful

          6  that we don't do anything to overburden your

          7  industry and by extension New York City's tourism,

          8  which is paying the bills around here. So, certainly

          9  had an appreciation of that before you sat down, but

         10  more of an appreciation of it now, as a result of

         11  you being here today.

         12                 And Mr. Hart, you made a real appeal

         13  for parking for your operators. This is a second

         14  item. The Transportation Committee Chair John Liu,

         15  we're going to give John some business as a result

         16  of the hearing.

         17                 Have you had discussions with the

         18  Transportation Committee?

         19                 MR. HART: None at all, Mr. Chairman.

         20  But let me, if we can help in any way when you go to

         21  the Chairman of that Committee, please let us know,

         22  let Stan know, and keep in close contact. We'll be

         23  glad to go with you, because we think there are some

         24  things that can be done.

         25                 One thing that we're trying to get is
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          2  a demonstration project at a federal fund which

          3  would basically give us seed money from the federal

          4  government to start a demonstration project with

          5  parking in both New York and Washington, those two

          6  destinations being heavily tourist dependent, so

          7  we'd welcome any help that we could get.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Anything that

          9  you have that you would get to me in care of the

         10  Counsel to the Committee Donna DeCostanzo, we can

         11  give you all of her information. We'd be happy to

         12  talk to John Liu about that. He's my colleague, he's

         13  my friend, his district borders mine, we have a lot

         14  of interaction, and he's a wonderful chairman of

         15  that Committee and very, you know sensitive to the

         16  needs of the tourism industry. I'm also very good

         17  friends with Chairman James Sanders of the Economic

         18  Development Committee and of course tourism is a big

         19  thing with him as well, another good Queens guy, you

         20  know. And, so, a lot of good Council members from

         21  Queens. I had to look around first before I made

         22  that statement.

         23                 MR. HART: Mr. Chairman, if I may

         24  impose on you just one more second.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. Please.
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          2                 MR. HART: As much as we at the ABA

          3  support the idea of the electrification project,

          4  it's not a magic bullet, because it does depend on a

          5  certain amount of space to put the electrification

          6  units in and I just can't see a lot of those

          7  electrification units around 42nd and Broadway. And,

          8  so, it all comes back at a very basic level to

          9  parking, or some place where buses could pull off,

         10  out of traffic, you know, just mark off white lines

         11  and pull out of traffic to load, unload and frankly,

         12  for a lot of my industry, wheelchair lifts, which

         13  also don't operate without the engine being turned

         14  on.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. You know, I

         16  fund a lot of seniors programs in my district, and

         17  these little trips are always using motorcoaches for

         18  that trip, for those trips, and I'm very popular

         19  with the seniors as a result of my sponsorship with

         20  those trips, and I want to -- oh, we just need you

         21  to state your name for the record so that your past

         22  statement will be written up in the transcript

         23  appropriately.

         24                 MR. HART: Clyde Hart, American Bus

         25  Association.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 And Mr. McVeigh, again, once again

          5  working backwards, yes, thank you for your -- you

          6  made reference to the filter, to the operations of

          7  the filters at below the requisite temperature, they

          8  won't work, and you gave us the contact of Jim Hale.

          9  And, so, these are really all of the things that we

         10  have to take into account before we can proceed, and

         11  you have some recommendations here and we thank you

         12  for them. We appreciate that.

         13                 MR. McVEIGH: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Mr.

         15  Brettschneider, just so this is like the 15th

         16  anniversary of natural gas buses, thanks to your

         17  company, right? I should allow you to take a little

         18  bit of a bow for that.

         19                 Just to show you that no good deed

         20  goes unpunished, 15 years later.

         21                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Well, it happened

         22  to be an interesting proposal that was presented to

         23  us by Brooklyn Union at that time. As you will

         24  recall, Brooklyn Union is, was at the forefront of

         25  developing alternate fuels through compressed
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          2  natural gas. They provided command and opportunity

          3  to get free brand new buses, and I was balancing

          4  everything out in new buses for the residents of

          5  Brooklyn and compressed natural gas for the fueling

          6  for those buses would have been provided by Brooklyn

          7  Union, so it was a tremendous and a very positive

          8  developmental process.

          9                 We went through many years of

         10  hair-raising experiences and getting the technique

         11  corrected on how compressed natural gas works, but

         12  through trial and effort it worked out very well and

         13  currently it is a major part of the New York City

         14  DOT private bus fleet.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. Because we

         16  followed suit with our alternative fuels local law 6

         17  of 1991.

         18                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I was the

         20  analyst for the Committee back then.

         21                 But speaking about fuels, as we were,

         22  we heard the MTA speak of their use of the ultra low

         23  sulfur diesel fuels for their diesel operations, and

         24  what is your view toward the use of those fuels and

         25  the possible adoption of the ultra low sulfur fuels
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          2  for your respective fleets; is that something that

          3  --

          4                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Well, let me

          5  speak specific to our operations under the New York

          6  City Department of Transportation jurisdiction.

          7                 Our service comes in with certain

          8  budgetary requirements, and the increased cost of

          9  the low sulfur fuel without the additional funding

         10  comports that that would result in a tremendous

         11  increase and burden in the disproportionate

         12  rebalancing of our other expenses in order to

         13  achieve that end result.

         14                 We would be very happy to look at it

         15  and incorporate it into our system, should the fuel

         16  procurement process on the part of the private

         17  operator be included under a direct funding approach

         18  as opposed to an independent line item in individual

         19  company's expense balance sheets.

         20                 As I stated, whenever an opportunity

         21  to present itself to look into various alternatives

         22  to diesel and the development of new diesel products

         23  and low sulfur fuel, we've been working very

         24  aggressively to incorporate them where both the

         25  funding and the support was present for us.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Do you see a way

          3  to sort of weave into your operation -- you seem to

          4  intimate that if it was done a little differently,

          5  if it wasn't a certain line item, if it was this, it

          6  was that, anything that you or your people, if

          7  there's any sort of road map to get us to having

          8  your diesel use the ultra low sulfur diesel, to the

          9  extent that, if there was any way that would be

         10  possible if you wanted to pose it to us, we could

         11  sort of bring it up at the Council -- I'm not as

         12  familiar --

         13                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: As I said, going

         14  back to my first hat as operating officer at Green

         15  Bus and Command --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         17                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Each company

         18  develops its own operating plan. There are a number

         19  of various transportation agencies and sectors

         20  within the New York City that has come up with

         21  alternative fuel procurement.

         22                 As was stated here, the New York City

         23  school bus operations are now going through a

         24  central procurement through the Department of

         25  Education, fuel is provided by one vendor to all the
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          2  contractors. In our case and in the Paratransit

          3  Access-A-Ride operations, fuel is now provided

          4  through a central clearing house, the one provider,

          5  and that seems to be focusing on the use of low

          6  sulfur fuel, and should the situation develop where

          7  an effort being made where the fuel is procured on a

          8  larger basis based on the 1,100 bus operation, total

          9  bus operation, minus the compressed natural gas

         10  vehicles, so we're approximately 750 buses, there

         11  may be some achievement in costs by doing that under

         12  a larger and broader scope basis.

         13                 This is something that I am just

         14  floating by you as a personal observation, as

         15  opposed to expressing the thoughts of the majority

         16  of the bus operators.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         18                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: But with a little

         19  forethought and communication between all parties,

         20  both from the private company side and on the part

         21  of the City and on the Council, we'll be very happy

         22  to meet with whoever, whenever a situation will

         23  provide itself to treat these goals.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 Also, the EPA is going to require the

          3  ultra low sulfur diesel by 2006, or whatever it is,

          4  right? So, you know, it's coming anyway. I think

          5  they're going to have the -- it's going to be 15 PPM

          6  or lower, isn't it? Fifteen. That's essentially like

          7  zero sulfur.

          8                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: We operate a

          9  company under contract to Transit Authority and we

         10  are using the ultra low as part of the Paratransit

         11  operation. New York Power Authority with New York

         12  Department of Education are trying to put together a

         13  plan to offer the ultra low sulfur fuel to certain

         14  bus operators, too. So that hopefully will be out

         15  there in the not too distant future.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see. And

         17  it will be price competitive.

         18                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So the earlier

         20  the better. That would be great, because my

         21  understanding is there is a significant difference

         22  in emissions with the ultra low versus --

         23                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: There is, just in

         24  the use of the fuel alone. It's just there was a

         25  significant financial disparity.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. As we get

          3  closer I guess there are economies of scale or

          4  whatever that will come into play.

          5                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Sure.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And so,

          7  gentlemen, thank you for being here today. Thank you

          8  for all that you do, and as we proceed, you can be

          9  sure that just as you were invited here today to be

         10  at the table and talk with us at the earlier stages

         11  of these bills, you know, you'll be part of the team

         12  as we go along to make sure that all of your

         13  interests can be spoken for appropriately.

         14                 So thank you very much for coming.

         15  Thank you for your patience.

         16                 MR. HART: Thank you.

         17                 MR. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I know it's been

         20  a long day. We appreciate it very much.

         21                 And the Counsel to the Committee is

         22  Donna DeCostanzo. She is the way to sort of contact

         23  the Committee.

         24                 Thank you, sir.

         25                 Okay, so the patience award are going
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          2  to be given. We have a tie for the most patient

          3  witnesses. Stephen Epstein, and David -- I messed

          4  the last name up last time.

          5                 MR. SANUA: Sanua.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see. Got

          7  it. Okay.

          8                 Thank you very much. The Sergeant

          9  will take copies of your statement.

         10                 Okay, thank you for being so patient.

         11  It's a long afternoon. Thank you. I appreciate your

         12  patience. We have the Counsel to the Committee,

         13  Donna DeCostanzo, who will administer the oath and

         14  then you can just proceed with your good testimony.

         15                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         16  right hand.

         17                 In the testimony that you're about to

         18  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         19  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         20                 MR. SANUA: I do.

         21                 MR. EPSTEIN: I do.

         22                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. In

         24  whatever order you would prefer.

         25                 MR. EPSTEIN: Good afternoon. My name
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          2  is Stephen Epstein. I live at 1481 East 26th Street,

          3  Brooklyn, a few houses away from a private, 129-bed

          4  hospital.

          5                 I am president of the East 26th

          6  Street Avenue O Block Association.

          7                 I am urging that the present Air

          8  Pollution Control Code pertaining to restrictions on

          9  engine idling be amended to mandate that crews

         10  operating city and private ambulances in our city do

         11  not excessively idle their vehicles during

         12  non-emergency situations.

         13                 For the past three years my neighbors

         14  and I have been complaining to both the hospital's

         15  president and to the chief executive officer of the

         16  private ambulance firm that operates ambulances

         17  bearing this hospital's name about the excessive

         18  idling of these vehicles.

         19                 The hospital, New York Community

         20  Hospital, is part of the 911 EMS system.

         21                 By excessive idling, I'm talking

         22  about ambulances idling in front of the hospital for

         23  more than three minutes in these non-emergency

         24  situations.

         25                 No one is inside the vehicles, EMTs
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          2  inside the vehicles taking naps, breaks or reading

          3  newspaper or magazines, EMTs waiting for the

          4  replacements during shift changes and/or socializing

          5  with other ambulance crew members, and the hospitals

          6  own ambulances idling while waiting for a call.

          7                 This summer I documented how the two

          8  ambulances bearing the New York Community Hospital

          9  name were excessively idling on Avenue O.

         10                 One ambulance was idling for at least

         11  two hours, while a yellow one, on the very same day,

         12  was idling for more than an hour.

         13                 These flagrant examples of the

         14  disregard of clean air rules are not isolated

         15  incidents.

         16                 At times my neighbors and I have

         17  spoken directly to the EMT crew in ambulances that

         18  were excessively idling.

         19                 Sometimes they have been cooperative,

         20  but other times there have been unpleasant

         21  confrontations.

         22                 I am particularly referring to Avenue

         23  O and Midwood. The two-lane street between East 26th

         24  Street and Bedford Avenue, which is in a residential

         25  community.
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          2                 Across the street from the hospital

          3  there are several private homes and two apartment

          4  houses. These pictures show the hospital and Avenue

          5  O with the ambulances double-parked and impeding the

          6  flow of traffic along the Avenue O during one

          7  September day this year.

          8                 Due to the one-way traffic pattern

          9  regulations, vehicles driving on my block and those

         10  moving on Avenue O, must pass the hospital.

         11                 From seeing the photos you can

         12  imagine all the diesel fumes being generated by

         13  these ambulances and are aware of the Health Hazards

         14  this presents to my community.

         15                 I am personally very much aware of

         16  the dangers of inhaling diesel tailpipe emissions,

         17  since I have compromised immune and respiratory

         18  systems. My health problems include asthma, and last

         19  week I was diagnosed with bronchitis again.

         20                 I'm not the only person who residing

         21  near the hospital who has immuno-respiratory system

         22  problems.

         23                 Now, I have one reservation with the

         24  language in Intro. 560. The phrase "preparing to

         25  respond to an emergency" is not very good. Creates a

                                                            160

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  loophole.

          3                 We have these two hospital

          4  ambulances, community hospital ambulances waiting

          5  for calls, especially on Saturday and Sundays when

          6  nobody is around to really check on them. They hang

          7  around in front of the hospital on Avenue O with the

          8  engines idling, waiting for that emergency call. And

          9  this was a major loophole that has to be cleared up.

         10                 Clean air is not a privilege, it's a

         11  right. There's no reason why ambulance crews, not on

         12  an emergency call, have to excessively idle the

         13  vehicles' engines, especially in a residential

         14  community, whether it's in Brooklyn or in Queens.

         15                 Please tighten up the idling

         16  restriction section of the Air Pollution Control

         17  Code so that ambulances will no longer legally

         18  unnecessarily pollute our neighborhoods.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Who

         21  is your Council Member over there?

         22                 MR. EPSTEIN: Mike Nelson.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Mike Nelson, oh,

         24  okay.

         25                 MR. EPSTEIN: Yes, he's our man.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, he's the

          3  one that did this bill.

          4                 MR. EPSTEIN: On my behalf.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Now I've

          6  got the picture. Okay.

          7                 MR. EPSTEIN: Okay.

          8                 We've been involved with him for

          9  quite some time. He's been down to block meetings.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. Because I

         11  was going to say that Council Member Nelson was the

         12  one that coined this particular bill.

         13                 MR. EPSTEIN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now I've got the

         15  whole picture.

         16                 Sir.

         17                 MR. SANUA: My name is David Sanua. I

         18  live on the same block as Mr. Epstein, at 1486 East

         19  26th Street.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'll just ask if

         21  you could speak right into the microphone.

         22                 MR. SANUA: Sure. Is that better?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

         24                 MR. SANUA: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I would also ask
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          2  you just to state your name again, to make sure it's

          3  in the recorder. We have a tape recording.

          4                 MR. SANUA: Okay, sure. Is that

          5  better?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

          7                 MR. SANUA: Thank you. I've never used

          8  one of these before.

          9                 My name is David Sanua. I live at

         10  1486 East 26th Street, Brooklyn, down a block from

         11  New York Community Hospital.

         12                 I am Secretary/Treasurer of the East

         13  26th Street Avenue O Block Association. I practice

         14  law and have an office in my home.

         15                 Along with Mr. Epstein, I urge the

         16  passage of the amendment to Section 24-163 of the

         17  Administrative Code, Intro. No. 560, that would

         18  mandate restrictions and idling by emergency

         19  vehicles that are not on actual emergency duties.

         20                 Mr. Epstein mentioned in passing his

         21  medical problems, and many here detailed the

         22  scientific and clinical bases for health problems

         23  caused by excessive idling by diesel and vehicles.

         24                 Let me add my own personal

         25  perspective on this. I suffer from a severe variety
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          2  of these problems. I suffer from severe allergies

          3  and multiple chemical sensitivities, commonly

          4  abbreviated as MCS. The hallmarks of this condition

          5  are extraordinary sensitivity and reactivity to

          6  environmental conditions, in my case, and within the

          7  concern of this Committee, most pertinently to

          8  man-made pollutants, such as diesel and automotive

          9  and engine fumes, and petroleum derivatives and

         10  exhaust, among other things. With such a surfeit of

         11  triggers in the man-made environment of New York

         12  City, I ordinarily suffer at least four to five sick

         13  days a month when I am unable to function

         14  effectively due to various forms of pain, physical

         15  clumsiness, and lack of mental clarity due to these

         16  exposures.

         17                 As a corollary for my MCS, I am also

         18  four to five times more sensitive to atmospheric

         19  pollutants than the average person.

         20                 I can smell an idling Parks

         21  Department garbage truck, if you will imagine this,

         22  clear across the Sheep Meadow in Central Park. And I

         23  can tell you that the smell will make me ill.

         24                 If those assembled here do not detect

         25  the odor themselves, does not remove them from the
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          2  hazardous effect to their health.

          3                 It is therefore at considerable

          4  hazard to my health that I have decided to appear

          5  before you today as a concerned citizen, and if you

          6  will, the canary in the coal mine, with regard to

          7  the City's public health.

          8                 With regard to the matter at hand of

          9  idling emergency vehicles, or in fact any of the

         10  other vehicles that all the new legislation is

         11  concerned about, I can tell you with perfect

         12  confidence that a single ambiance or a truck with

         13  its diesel or truck engine running, replacing the

         14  air of an entire residential area in one to ten

         15  minutes, depending on the condition of the truck or

         16  ambulance engine, the atmospheric conditions.

         17                 In foggy weather, with no wind, and

         18  with a number of idling ambulances idling outside

         19  community hospital, I detect diesel odors more than

         20  halfway up our block, a distance of over 100 yards,

         21  the effect on the air in the hospital itself can be

         22  assumed.

         23                 These problems must be far greater in

         24  other locations with a denser concentration of

         25  emergency vehicles, near community hospital is a
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          2  small hospital. Until such time as the federal

          3  government's new regulations regarding truck

          4  emissions take effect, and I point out that these

          5  are for new construction, not necessarily the

          6  retrofitting of all vehicles, and until such time as

          7  the pledges of the bus and truck industries to

          8  regulate themselves come into effect, the City must

          9  take whatever steps it can to protect its citizens

         10  from the well-known effects of particulate and fume

         11  pollutants, obvious and insidious, at the most

         12  intimate local and street level, as well as in a

         13  Citywide basis.

         14                 The proposed legislation endeavors to

         15  remove this paradox of life-giving vehicles calling

         16  pollution and illness from our City's streets. I

         17  urge the passage of Intro. No. 560, its vigorous

         18  enforcement, and as well, the education of emergency

         19  vehicle operators and the need for and the

         20  importance of compliance, with the new regulation.

         21  Thank you, Councilman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Sanua. Thank you, Mr. Epstein, for your advocacy on

         24  behalf of this issue that has resulted in this

         25  introduction, this bill being proposed by Mike
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          2  Nelson, and it was something that, you know,

          3  Councilman Nelson has spoken to me about, he very

          4  much wanted to have it included in this hearing when

          5  we were talking about idling legislation, and I'm

          6  happy to do that, and I'm happy to do whatever I can

          7  to advance this to give you and other communities

          8  throughout the City much needed relief from, in some

          9  cases, a battery of ambulances just idling in

         10  seeming perpetuity and Mr. Epstein --

         11                 MR. EPSTEIN: If I might add?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

         13                 MR. EPSTEIN: You know, a lot of the

         14  hospitals are now running their own ambulances

         15  because the City has been encouraging privatization,

         16  so it's not just our community, I'm sure your

         17  community too you have the same problem.

         18                 You probably read that corporations

         19  have also hired a contractor with private ambulances

         20  to be available, and so you could imagine, if

         21  they're in the Times Square area just idling waiting

         22  for a call, this was in the New York Times a couple

         23  of months ago, it's compounding the problem. And

         24  this is a real problem they have to deal with, just

         25  waiting for a response, and while they're poisoning
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          2  the environment.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. And I thank

          4  you for bringing to our attention your belief that

          5  the language is a little too broad with regard to

          6  preparing to respond or whatever it is. It seems

          7  like a lot. That can be used to justify a lot of

          8  things, you know, "preparing to respond," preparing

          9  to respond tomorrow?

         10                 MR. EPSTEIN: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You know, how

         12  far does that go.

         13                 MR. SANUA: I mean, one thing I would

         14  point out, the bus people mentioned the problem of

         15  buses being available to pick up and deliver

         16  passengers. With ambulances, of course, we have a

         17  ready made fleet all over the City, and if one

         18  ambulance cannot start, unless of course there's

         19  some incredibly major emergency going on, you know,

         20  another ambulance can always be called.

         21                 And so the concerns regarding the

         22  stalling of ambulances just aren't present as they

         23  might be with bus stalling.

         24                 I also would point out that these

         25  vehicles are smaller and don't have the brake
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          2  pressure problems that have been testified to by the

          3  bus operators.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. Sure.

          5                 And also, this is not the first time

          6  that someone who suffers from MCS has come before

          7  the Committee and I like to, I view the people who

          8  testify, who have MCS, you think about it, I think

          9  of them as also speaking out on behalf of children,

         10  because children are, you know, just by their very

         11  nature, any organism which is developing and is very

         12  sensitive to all kinds of environmental stimuli and

         13  so on and allergies and illnesses brought on by

         14  airborne pollutants and whatnot. And, so, people who

         15  testify on behalf of like the MCS community, I think

         16  they're also speaking out on behalf of our children,

         17  in addition, who suffer a lot of the same things.

         18                 MR. SANUA: Well, of course, my

         19  concern with all of the research that has been done

         20  on the effects of air pollution is that it never

         21  leads to the conclusion that we are all becoming

         22  chemically sensitive.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, sure.

         24                 MR. SANUA: Yes, well, the great

         25  increase in asthma is, certainly a sign post to me,
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          2  exactly what's going on, and that nonwithstanding

          3  the technical constraints that were testified to

          4  here on diesel transportation, I would, frankly, and

          5  I think this would be the consensus of the MCS

          6  community, state unequivocally that some

          7  inconvenience, both economic and administrative,

          8  must be endured to ensure that we have clean air.

          9                 Because if we don't have clean air,

         10  we don't have anything.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         12                 MR. SANUA: I mean, not outside the

         13  house, not inside the house, because if we open our

         14  windows, what do we want to get.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well put. Well

         16  put.

         17                 Gentlemen, thank you.

         18                 MR. SANUA: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I greatly

         20  appreciate it today, for your advocacy.

         21                 MR. EPSTEIN: Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And I'll state

         23  that we have received written testimony for the

         24  record from Antonella Vicaro, Office of Government

         25  Affairs at the Automobile Club of New York.
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          2                 And with no one else wishing to be

          3  heard, the hearing is adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 4:50 p.m.)
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